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BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Looking back over the past year

This year marks the 20th anniversary of SilverBridge.  
This is a significant milestone since few of our peers 
from the turbulent pre-2000 years have survived into 
adulthood.  Our 20th year has also seen a healthy 
growth in our profit underlining our sustainable 
approach to the business, which was one of the key 
visions of the founders.  

The Group continued to perform well and showed an 
overall improvement in profit compared to the previous 
year, despite losing a large rental contract. Growth 
in revenue remained low, given the loss of the rental 
contract, but all other segments improved upon the 
previous year.

The cash balance has continued to improve over the 
past year through a combination of improved financial 
performance and management of working capital 
requirements. We are confident in the turn around 
of the business and are pleased that the business has 
returned to a position where a dividend can be declared 
to shareholders.

SilverBridge Solutions, the product development 
business, fine-tuned its operations in line with the 
decreased rental income, without sacrificing quality.  It 
managed to build new products for our existing client 
base, which have received a positive response.

Our services business, Connect, managed to achieve 
profitability in all lines of business.   A number of 
smaller implementations were completed this year 
and the resultant momentum and success are tangible 
and culminated in an improved margin in comparison 
to the previous year. This in turn brought about a 
significantly improved overall performance, especially 
given the conclusion of the less profitable Nedgroup 
Life implementation.

Both operating businesses continued to support 
existing customers over the past year and generated 
satisfactory revenue in this regard. This financial 
performance was achieved and sustained through a 
combination of customer satisfaction and improving 
value propositions. 

Looking forward

We will continue to build on our successes and are 
cautiously optimistic regarding the next financial year. 
Our focus will remain on revenue growth through 
selling existing assets and developing those for which 
we have identified a gap in the market.

In order to expose future growth, we have evaluated 
our current assets and have found numerous ways in 
which these can be expanded and complemented in 
current and new markets.

We are in the process of launching a number of new 
products separately from Exergy but based on the same 
code base and models.  These include an intermediary 
management system, a pension fund administration 
system, a group scheme administration system as well 
as an asset-based insurance administration system. 
These new offerings are aimed at our existing client 
base and where it makes sense to enter new markets. 
We see opportunity in the retail market where many 
retailers offer asset-based insurance to their clients. 
These financial products are ideally suited to the 
Exergy model.  Our new software for intermediary 
management gives us the opportunity to approach 
banks with brokerages, especially in countries outside 
South Africa.

We will extend our product offering and services to 
host Exergy on behalf of clients.   We will offer clients 
the option to outsource their information technology 
division, which could be a key factor in cost reduction 
and improvement of quality, especially for smaller 
businesses or start-ups.

We have identified a need in the market for value-
add services and are currently exploring new business 
models that we hope will unlock value for our clients. 
These include several outsourcing models, where 
we will either fulfill a total administration function 
on behalf of our clients or only a particular portion 
thereof. As we have an intimate knowledge of Exergy 
and have already developed best practices for business 
processing in our clients’ environments, we are well 
placed to be able to fulfill these needs. Such an offering 
may include the following:
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•	 A	full	hosting	solution	of	a	client’s	IT	infrastructure	in	the	cloud	(including	databases	and	servers)	as	well	as	
database maintenance, backup management and disaster recovery (DR)

•	 IT	outsourcing	of	processes	such	as	month-end	management,	deployments,	batch	runs	and	system	upgrades	
(including testing as a service)

•	 A	full	business	process	outsourcing	(BPO)	solution	for	customers	who	would	like	to	outsource	some	or	all	of	
their administrative functions to us, including new business capturing, client servicing and claims processing 
and all regulatory or management reporting functions

We launched an online training function which we hope will expand not only our revenue models but will also add 
to the attraction of Exergy as a platform. This approach enables us to make training more affordable to our clients 
by reaching a wider audience in a cost effective way. Building a community of Exergy experts by empowering our 
end users will prove that the benefits of training far outweigh the cost thereof, which is our ultimate goal. We have 
already completed four modules and will add another seven in this financial year. 

We are looking forward to an exciting new financial year that promises great opportunities for development and 
growth. 

Robert Emslie  Jaco Swanepoel Lee Kuyper

SilverBridge Chairman SilverBridge Chief Executive Officer SilverBridge Financial Director

1995

First Office in Centurion 

First Offices
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Stakeholders

MILESTONES

1996 First installation of SDT Life at 
Swabou Life in Namibia

Stakeholders Requirements Engagement Challenges Status

Investors and  
Shareholders

SilverBridge as a vehicle to 
maximise sustainable returns 
on invested capital

A sustainable presence in the 
industry

Receiving relevant and 
timeous information

Announcement of 
significant matters

Reporting of results

Results presentations

Individual engagements

Annual general meeting

Integrated report

Growth of revenue 65%

Clients

Affordable solutions to 
our clients, sustaining their 
competitive advantage in the 
market

Constant interaction 
through “Agile” delivery 
approach

Our involvement in IT 
steering committees of our 
clients

SilverBridge Showcase and 
Road show events

Complexity of translating 
life insurance business 
objectives into IT solutions

Managing delivery 
over extended periods 
with changing business 
requirements

Provide cost effective 
products and services 
which align with clients’ 
value perceptions

60%

Partners

Enable our partners to 
deliver to clients 

Provide partners with the 
foundation to customise 
a solution quickly and 
efficiently

Partners need to understand 
the life insurance market to 
provide a focused solution to 
clients

Joint projects and initiatives

Training and knowledge 
sharing

Interaction with our 
specialists

Contracting with them 
as service providers and 
product partners

To enable partners to 
implement with only the 
support of high level 
specialist services from 
SilverBridge 

33%

Employees

SilverBridge as an employer 
of choice by providing 
a positive working 
environment

Environment where 
employees will be 
challenged, developed and 
fulfilled

Driving interactions between 
individuals on a constant 
basis in the process of 
delivering through the Agile 
delivery methodology

Structured learning, 
presentations and 
communication

Reward and recognise 
performance

Social events

Retaining key employees

Employment Equity 
Requirements

75%

Windhoek
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Stakeholders Requirements Engagement Challenges Status

Industry players
Leading the way in our field 
of specialty

Creative solutions for our 
clients

Attending industry forums

Bi-annual SilverBridge show 
case events

Finding cost-effective 
solutions for the challenges 
facing the industry

67%

Suppliers

Act in accordance with 
supplier agreements and in 
line with normal business 
practices in an arm’s length 
relationship

Face to face interactions

Service level agreements

Resolving disputes when 
the delivery is not in line 
with expectations

B-BBEE requirements

100%

Community
Direct investment through 
social investment initiatives

Specific social initiatives and 
projects

Enterprise development 
through a sponsorship and 
investing time

Internship- and learnership 
programme

Attract and retain 
employment equity 
candidates

67%

Government and 
regulators

Compliance with laws and 
regulations

Paying taxes

Being a credible player in 
our industry, country and in 
Africa

Ongoing interactions 
with regulators to ensure 
compliance with their legal 
and regulatory requirements

Increased complexity and 
higher cost of complying

100%

SilverBridge’s checks and balances

Governance: Credibility is the cornerstone of our business. We value good governance and quality reporting.
Key developments:  King III compliance review, integrated reporting, 2008 Companies Act.

Remuneration:  We believe that real incentive motivates people - increasing productivity to benefit all stakeholders.
Key developments:  Performance management and incentive scheme, Remuneration Committee.

Risk:  Managing risk effectively is critical to a business focused on dynamic and sustainable growth.
Key developments:  Risk management model, modifying business model by separating product and service businesses,  
 Risk Committee.

Ethics:  At SilverBridge, we value open communication, the sharing of knowledge and the empowerment of  
 individuals.
Key developments:  SilverBridge policies and procedures, Social and Ethics Committee.

1997 1998 Move to Castle View

Harare

Confirm our  
African roots
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW
MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND GROUP STRUCTURE

KAGISO TISO HOLDINGS (PTY) LTD & MMI HOLDINGS LIMITED

NMT GROuP*

DIRECTORS

SilverBridge’s market

SilverBridge has offered insurance software solutions since 1995.  We have seen our operations grow to more than  
30 implementations in 12 African countries.  Four of the top ten life assurers in South Arica use Exergy for all or part of 
their South African operations. A number of South African financial institutions are using Exergy in their expansion to other 
countries in Africa.

Financial services in the African market continue to offer opportunity for growth.  In 2013 there were 74 life assurers in South 
Africa with a total of 49 million policies.  There are 93 short-term insurers and almost 6000 pension funds in South Africa.  The 
world’s eyes are on Africa with a steady 4.9 per cent growth since 2001 in net foreign direct investment.  McKinsey sees the 
African renaissance as more than a ‘resource boom’, which means the continent will experience long lasting and sustainable 
growth. The insurance penetration rate, except for South Africa, is low and a number of international financial institutions are 
bullish about African growth; many of these foreign interests are looking at South Africa to take the lead.

Our focus is to continue exploring ways to grow our revenue through more ventures that can monetise our existing value 
propositions. We will do this using Connect and our newly established outsourcing model. We will continue to expand our 
product range to our existing client base with new offerings.

33% 37% 23% 7%

PuBLIC

* Previously Amabubesi Capital Information Services
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SilverBridge’s product offering

The Eco-Suite is SilverBridge’s contribution to the complete end-
to-end solution required for life assurance administration. It is the 
accumulation of our knowledge and experience and consists of all 
SilverBridge produced software and tools to enable the SilverBridge 
policy administration model. 

The Eco-Suite is published to the SilverBridge Showroom together 
with partner products that supplement the end-to-end offering. 
All SilverBridge clients and partners have access to the SilverBridge 
Showroom. It is an online platform that provides access to all 
applications, documentation, shared code, implementation and 
training material.

SilverBridge’s life assurance administration model is embedded into 
its flagship product, Exergy. It is a flexible and highly configurable 
software package which enables real-time processing of multiple 
product lines and distribution channels on one system. Our 
implementation approach has reached a new level of maturity 
in our IGLOO implementation model where we put emphasis on 
installing the system and then operationalising the system as 
quickly as possible.  Connect followed this approach for the latest 
implementations of Exergy.  New clients can go live with Exergy 
within a few months.

This year marks our 20th anniversary as well as the 22nd release of 
Exergy as a mature software product. 

South Africa
Lesotho

Swaziland

Zimbabwe
Mauritius 

Malawi

Kenya

Namibia

Angola

Botswana

Nigeria

Ghana

7



BUSINESS OVERVIEW
MANAGEMENT TEAM PROFILES

MILESTONES

1 JC Oberholzer, CIO and  
Chief System Architect
Date employed: July 1995

2 Ben Burger, Portfolio Manager
Date employed: January 2010

3 Annalie Terblanche,  
Client Solutions Manager
Date employed: January 2008 

4 Leonel da Silva, Portfolio Manager
Date employed: July 2008 

5 Chris van der Berg,  
Client Engagement Manager
Date employed: February 2014

6 Patrick Ashton, Portfolio Manager
Date employed: June 2009

7 Johan Reyneke, Business 
Development Executive
Date employed: July 2010

1 2
3

4

5 6 7

Development of  
Exergy starts2000
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MILESTONES

8 Rona Delport, Portfolio Manager
Date employed: July 2000

9 Lee Kuyper, CEO Connect  
Software Services
Date employed: August 2007

10 Jaco Swanepoel, CEO  
SilverBridge Holdings
Date employed: July 1995

11 Petro Mostert, Head of Finance  
and Shared Services
Date employed: November 2008 

12 Claudette Steynberg, Asset  
Creation Manager
Date employed: January 2009

13 Stuart Blyth, CEO SilverBridge 
Software Solutions
Date employed: January 2015

14 Mpho Mahlaba, Portfolio Manager
Date employed: October 2013 

8

9

10
11

12 13 14

2001 icapital acquired  
a 20% share
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ROBERT EMSLIE,  
Chairman (57)
Appointed: January 2011
Robert is a member of a 
number of boards of listed 
and unlisted companies 
(mostly as an independent 
director). He has more than 
30 years’ experience in the 
financial services sector and 
retired as a career banker 
in 2008. He is a chartered 
accountant.

JACO SWANEPOEL,  
CEO (55): SilverBridge 
Holdings Limited
Appointed: December 2005
Jaco is the CEO of the 
Group. As co-founder 
of SilverBridge Software 
Solutions, he played a key 
role in the listing of the 
Group and establishment 
of SilverBridge Holdings. 
His 27 years’ experience in 
the financial services and 
IT industries has been of 
vital importance and great 
benefit. He initially started 
out in Sanlam’s actuarial 
division. He then joined 
Momentum Life, where he 
engaged in most aspects of 
life insurance administration 
as well as IT.

JOCOBETH CHIKAONDA, 
Non-Executive Director (35)
Appointed: June 2014
Jocobeth is an executive 
manager of investments 
at Kagiso Tiso Holdings 
(“KTH”), where she is 
responsible for managing 
KTH’s portfolio investments 
and the acquisitions of as 
well as the disposal of assets. 
In addition to SilverBridge, 
Jocobeth is a board 
member of several other 
companies across various 
sectors. Jocobeth holds an 
MBA and PDBA from the 
University of Pretoria as well 
as a BCOMPT Accounting 
Sciences from the University 
of South Africa.

HASHEEL GOVIND,  
Non-Executive Director (34)
Appointed: November 2012
Hasheel is a chartered 
accountant and holds 
the title of Chief Financial 
Officer at NMT Group. 
He is responsible for the 
full finance and corporate 
finance function and plays 
a key role in the acquisition 
and disposal of assets. 
He manages investments 
within the NMT Group 
portfolio as well as a private 
equity fund on behalf of 
the Group. Prior to joining  
NMT Group he completed 
his articles at Lucro 
Auditing.

Social, Ethics 
and Remuneration  
Committee

Nomination Committee

Investment Committee

Board

Audit, Risk and 
IT Committee

BOARD MEMBER PROFILES

STUART BLyTH, Executive 
Director and CEO: 
SilverBridge Software 
Solutions (35)
Appointed: February 2015
Stuart originally joined 
SilverBridge in 2011 as 
the finance commercial 
manager and at the end 
of 2013 he left SilverBridge 
to obtain his MBA at the IE 
Business School in Madrid, 
Spain. He is a chartered 
accountant and completed 
his studies through the 
University of Pretoria and 
did his articles at Nedbank.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
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Social, Ethics 
and Remuneration  
Committee

Nomination Committee

Investment Committee

Board

Audit, Risk and 
IT Committee

JEREMy DE VILLIERS, 
Independent Non-Executive 
Director (41)
Appointed:  October 2008
Jeremy is the managing 
director of Anglo Cape 
Properties Ltd and a director 
of StoneHill Property Fund 
and StoneHill Property 
Management.  He has 
more than fifteen years’ 
experience in investment 
banking, corporate 
finance and investment 
management. Jeremy is a 
chartered accountant, with 
an H.Dip (Tax) from the 
University of Cape Town.

TyRREL MURRAy, Non-
Executive Director (52)
Appointed: February 2009
Tyrrel heads up Investor 
relations as part of the 
group finance function 
at MMI Holdings Limited 
(previously Metropolitan). 
He has wide-ranging 
financial reporting, tax 
planning and compliance 
experience. Over the past 
twenty years he has been 
involved in a broad spectrum 
of corporate finance 
transactions, predominantly 
in the financial services 
sector. He is a chartered 
accountant with an H. Dip 
(Tax) from the University of 
Cape Town.

LEE KUyPER, Financial 
Director and CEO: Connect 
Software Services (34)
Appointed: September 2012
Lee joined the business 
in 2007 as financial 
manager and later 
moved on to oversee new 
business and existing 
account development 
functions, as well as 
commercial partnerships 
and relationships. He is a 
chartered accountant (UP) 
and completed his articles 
at PwC.

M I LESTONES
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STUART BLyTH, Executive 
Director and CEO: 
SilverBridge Software 
Solutions (35)
Appointed: February 2015
Stuart originally joined 
SilverBridge in 2011 as 
the finance commercial 
manager and at the end 
of 2013 he left SilverBridge 
to obtain his MBA at the IE 
Business School in Madrid, 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
This corporate governance report sets out the key qualitative 
governance principles and practices of SilverBridge.

SilverBridge endorses the Code of Corporate Practices 
and Conduct (“the code”) as set out in the King report on 
Corporate Governance (“King III”) and substantially follows 
the recommendations and principles of the Code.    The board 
is committed to the principles of discipline, transparency, 
independence, social responsibility and accountability in their 
dealings with all stakeholders, as well as complying with the 
JSE Limited Listings Requirements.  The commitment and 
pursuit of these principles are delivered through the group’s 
various subsidiaries and committees, ensuring transparency, 
integrity and accountability as foremost in all business 
segments.  The board is assessing its governance practices 
and procedures against King III and will make adjustments 
where necessary.  

The board is committed to the adherence and application 
of the highest levels of corporate governance and accepts 
responsibility to provide a high standard of corporate 
governance.  All of the members of the board are individually 
and collectively aware of their responsibility to ensure that 
the financial statements fairly represent the state of affairs 
of the group and the board, therefore keeps its performance 
and core governance principles under regular review.

Companies Act 2008 (“Act 71 of 2008’’), King III and JSE 
Limited Listings Requirements

The company did comply with the Companies Act 2008, King 
III and provisions of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements.

Code of ethics and conduct

The board adopted and endorses a code of ethics and conduct 
for the group, which is reviewed on a regular basis.

All directors and employees are required to maintain the 
highest levels of professionalism and integrity in conducting 
SilverBridge business and in dealing with all stakeholders.  The 
code of ethics and conduct for the group ensure compliance 
with generally accepted principles regarding ethical behaviour 
and ensuring that all business is conducted in a manner, which 
in all reasonable circumstances, is beyond reproach. 

Ethics and values

At SilverBridge, we value open communication, the sharing of 
knowledge and the empowerment of individuals.

With regard to our ethics and values – our business philosophy 
– we are committed to excellence and integrity in all that we 
do.

At SilverBridge, a documented policy requires that all 
employees adhere to ethical business practices - in their 
relationships with one another, suppliers, intermediaries, 
shareholders and investors. This policy also sets stringent 
standards relating to the acceptance of gifts from third parties 
and declarations of potential conflicts of interest.

A fraud prevention policy ensures that a firm stance is taken 
against fraud and that offenders are duly prosecuted. The 
policy outlines the group’s response to fraud, theft and 
corruption committed by staff and external parties against 
the Company. 

The Audit and Risk IT Committee manages the legal processes 
relating to cases of fraud, ensuring the highest possible level 
of recovery for the group from any fraudulent behaviour. 
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Board of directors

Board charter

The board acts in accordance with an approved board 
charter which is reviewed on a regular basis.  The charter, 
in line with the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation 
(“MOI”), amongst others, regulates the composition, scope 
of authority, responsibility and function of the board. A 
balance of authority is ensured through an agreed division of 
responsibility. No individual has unrestricted decision-making 
powers. 

Board composition

SilverBridge has a unitary board structure, with eight directors. 
The board composition is as follows:

· Chief executive officer: Mr J Swanepoel

· Financial director: Mr L Kuyper

· Executive director: Mr S Blyth

· Two independent non-executive directors:

i. Mr R Emslie (chairman of the board) ; and 

ii. Mr J de Villiers

· Three non-executive directors:

iii. Mr T Murray;

iv. Mr H Govind; and

v. Ms J Chikaonda 

Biographical details of all the directors appear on pages 10 
and 11.

Appointments made during the financial period:

Mr S Blyth was appointed as an executive director to the 
board on 12 February 2015. 

Resignations during the financial period:

No resignations during the financial period.

Board meetings

A minimum of four board meetings are scheduled per financial 
year. Additional meetings may be convened to consider 
specific business issues which may arise between scheduled 
meetings. There were no additional meetings scheduled 
for the financial period.  Attendance of board meetings is 
available on page 23.

In addition to board meetings, annual strategy meetings with 
executive management are convened. Strategic direction 
is determined within these key meetings and the executive 
management proposes its objectives and plans to the 
board. These strategic plans are reviewed and discussed and 
thereafter monitored by the board (in accordance with the 
group’s performance).

The directors: Their roles and responsibilities

The board is responsible for the group’s overall good 
corporate governance.

The duties and responsibilities of directors are prescribed by 
law. In the interests of good governance, the board discharges 
the following duties (but is not limited thereto):

The board:

· acts as focal point for and custodian of corporate 
governance in line with their board charter which sets 
out their responsibilities and monitors the relationship 
between management and the stakeholders of the 
company

· seeks the optimum balance for the group between 
conformance with the dictates of good governance and 
performance

· appreciates that strategy, risk, performance and 
sustainability are inseparable

· informs and approves the strategy

· ensures that the group’s strategic direction is in line with 
the company’s purpose, the value drivers of its business and 
legitimate interests and expectations of its shareholders
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· provides effective leadership based on an ethical 
foundation and by doing so, actively promotes an ethical 
culture within the group

· ensures that the group is and is seen to be a responsible 
corporate citizen

· ensures that the group’s ethics are managed effectively

· monitors the implementation of the strategy by 
management

· ensures full, timely and transparent disclosure of all 
material matters

· ensures that the group has an effective and independent 
Audit, Risk and IT Committee

· reviews the size and composition of the board in terms 
of the mix of skills-diversity and the requirements for the 
appropriate constitution of board committees

· agrees on the procedure to allow directors to obtain 
independent professional advice where necessary

· always acts in the best interests of the group

· agrees upon procedures to manage conflict of interest

· delegates the necessary authority to management for the 
day-to-day operations of the group

· is responsible for the governance of risk

· is responsible for information IT governance

· ensures that the solvency and liquidity of the group is 
continuously monitored

· ensures that the group complies with applicable laws 
and considers adherence to non-binding rules, codes and 
standards

· ensures that there is an effective risk based internal audit

· appreciates that stakeholders’ perceptions affect the 
group’s reputation

· ensures the integrity of the group’s integrated report

· reports on the effectiveness of the group’s system of 
internal controls

The chairman

Robert Emslie remained the independent non-executive 
chairman of the board. The roles of the chairman and chief 
executive officer remain separate. The chairman’s performance 
is evaluated annually.

Non-executive directors

Non-executive directors are not involved in the day-to-day 
business of the group, neither are they full-time, salaried 
employees of the company, or its subsidiaries. The non-
executive directors have unhindered access to management 
and the groups’ company secretary, they are further entitled 
to seek independent and professional advice about the affairs 
of the group, at the groups’ expense. 

All non-executive directors are individuals of the highest 
calibre and credibility. They bring a value adding and objective 
viewpoint to all strategic decisions, processes and standards 
relating to business decision involving the group. The non-
executive directors enjoy no benefits from the group for 
their service (as directors), other than their fees and potential 
capital gains and dividends gained from interests in ordinary 
shares. None of the non-executive directors participate in the 
share incentive scheme. 

Independence of directors

The independent non-executive directors are independent in 
terms of both the King III definition and the requirements of 
the JSE Limited. They do not participate in the share incentive 
scheme and have not served for a period of nine years.  The 
board will continue to measure the independency, in line with 
policy.

It was confirmed that the independent non-executive 
directors:

· were not representatives of any shareholder with the 
ability to control or materially influence management or 
the board

· were not employed by the company or the group in any 
executive capacity in the last three financial years

· were not members of the immediate family or of an 
individual who is, or has been in any of the past three 
financial years, employed by the company or the group in 
an executive capacity

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

MILESTONES
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· were not professional advisers to the company or the 
group, other than in the capacity as directors

· were not suppliers to the company or group, or to clients 
of the group

· did not have any material contractual relationship with 
the company or group

· did not have any business or other relationship which 
could be seen to materially interfere with their capacity 
to act in an independent manner

Executive directors

The executive directors of SilverBridge are involved in the group 
on a day-to-day basis and have entered into service contracts 
exceeding three years. None of the executive directors are 
appointed as trustees on the share option trust. The group 
currently has three executive directors: Jaco Swanepoel, Lee 
Kuyper and Stuart Blyth. 

The Board determines the remuneration of executive directors, 
in accordance with the remuneration policy endorsed by 
shareholders.

The executive directors are individually mandated and held 
accountable for:

· the implementation of strategies and key policies 
determined by the board

· managing and monitoring the business and affairs of the 
company in accordance with approved business plans 
and budgets

· prioritising the allocation of capital and other resources

· establishing the best managerial and operational practices

Chief executive officer (CEO)

The CEO, Jaco Swanepoel, is tasked with the running of the 
business and the implementation of policies and strategies 
approved and adopted by the board. The governance and 
management function of the CEO is aligned with that of the 
board. In the delegation of responsibilities the CEO confers 
authority on management and is accountable for doing so. 
In this sense, the accountability of management is a direct 
reflection of the CEO’s authority. The CEO’s performance is 
evaluated by the chairman on an annual basis.

Appropriate measures are in place and are communicated to 
management, monitoring levels of authority applied within 
the group - particularly in regard to human resources, capital 
expenditure, procurement and contracts.

Board selection, appointment and rotation

Directors are appointed by means of a transparent and formal 
procedure, governed by the Nomination Committee’s terms 
of reference. The Nomination Committee is responsible for 
selecting and recommending the appointment of competent, 
qualified and experienced directors. The board as a whole 
appoints directors, who are subjected to an induction 
program. This process of the appointment is in line with the 
recommendations of King III. 

Re-appointment to the board is not automatic, although 
directors may recommend themselves for re-election. In terms 
of the Memorandum of Incorporation at each annual general 
meeting of the company, one third of the non-executive 
directors shall retire from office.  The directors retiring at each 
annual general meeting shall be those directors whom have 
been longest in office.  The names of the directors eligible 
for re-election are submitted at the annual general meeting, 
accompanied by appropriate biographical details, as set out 
in the integrated report.  The company has not adopted a 
retirement age for directors. 

Empowering of directors

Directors are supplied with the information necessary to 
discharge their responsibilities, individually and as a board 
- and in certain instances as board committee members. All 
new directors are engaged in a formal orientation procedure.

All directors have unhindered access to management, the 
company secretary and to any company information (records, 
documents and property) which may in any way assist them 
in the responsible fulfillment of their duties. Directors are 
entitled to seek independent and professional advice relating 
to the affairs of the group. 

The company secretary is responsible for providing the 
chairman and directors, both individually and collectively, 
with advice on corporate governance and compliance with 
legislation, the JSE Listings Requirements and securities 
exchange requirements. 

M I LESTONES 15

2007 Kagiso Tiso  
becomes a shareholder



At SilverBridge, we are committed to providing ongoing 
professional development and training opportunities for all 
our directors and officers. 

Company secretary

All directors have access to the advice and services of the 
company secretary. The company secretary, Fusion Corporate 
Secretarial Services (Pty) Ltd, is represented by Melinda Gous.  

As highlighted in the board charter, the company secretary 
assists the board in meeting its fiduciary obligation to the 
shareholders. The company secretary is responsible for the 
functions specified in the Companies Act of 2008.  All meetings 
of shareholders, directors and board sub-committees are 
properly recorded, as per the requirements of the Act.  The 
company secretary also monitors the director’s dealings in 
securities and ensures adherence to closed periods when 
trading in SilverBridge shares.  

A formal evaluation on the company secretary was conducted 
by the chief executive officer on behalf of the board. The 
evaluation was in line with key legislative and governance 
principles and practices (Companies Act and King III). 
The evaluation included consideration on competence, 
knowledge, experience and qualifications of the company 
secretary, Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Ltd. 
In line with the provisions of paragraph 3.84 (i) of the JSE 
Listings Requirements, it is confirmed that the company 
secretary has combined qualifications that include B.Comm 
Accounting and Law, LLB as well as Diplomas in Advanced 
Business and Securities Law. 

It is further confirmed that the company secretary has the 
requisite combined competence, knowledge and experience 
of collectively more than 10 years, to carry out the duties of 
a secretary of a public company. Considering the statutory 
duties imposed by the Companies Act, it is confirmed that the 
company secretary fulfilled the statutory duties in line with 
the statutes. 

Considering the best practice recommendations in King III 
with regard to the company secretary. It is confirmed that the 
company secretary acted in accordance with the best practice 
recommendations. In line with the provisions of paragraph 
3.84 (j) the board is satisfied that its relationship with the 
company secretary is independent and at an arm’s length 
relationship, due to the following;

· the company secretary is not a director of the company

· the company secretary does not represent a material 
shareholder

· the company secretary does not hold any shares in the 
company

· the company secretary is a separate independent entity

· the company secretary attends all directors and committee 
meetings by invitation; and

· open lines of communication are maintained between 
the board and the company secretary at all times.

Internal audit

The board implemented an effective risk based internal audit 
function by appointing Mr C Smith CA (SA) as the independent 
internal auditor.  

We confirm the following under internal audit function:

· internal audit follows a risk based approach to its internal 
audit plan

· internal audit provides written assessments of the 
effectiveness of the group’s system of internal controls 
and risk management

· the Audit, Risk and IT Committee oversees the internal 
audit

· internal audit is strategically positioned to achieve its 
objectives

Share dealings

A formal policy has been adopted whereby directors, 
employees, consultants and agents are prohibited from 
trading in the group’s securities during closed periods.  

These closed periods run from the end of the interim and 
annual reporting periods, until the financial results are 
disclosed on the Securities Exchange News Service (SENS). 

None of the aforementioned are permitted to trade in 
securities at any other time if they have access to price-
sensitive information, which is not in the public domain and 
whilst SilverBridge is trading under cautionary. 

Directors are required to obtain written clearance from the 
chairman prior to dealing in the company’s shares. The 
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chairman is required to obtain approval from the chairman 
of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee before undertaking any 
share dealings. It is also mandatory for directors to notify the 
company secretary of any dealings in the company’s shares. 
This information is then disclosed on SENS within 48 hours 
of the trade being affected. Continuous reminders of closed 
periods are sent to the board of directors, the employees privy 
to price sensitive information, consultants and agents. 

The director dealings during the year were as follows:

Mr R Emslie, purchased 2 500 ordinary shares in SilverBridge 
Holdings Limited on 5 December 2014.  Mr Emslie obtained 
the necessary clearance and the information was disclosed 
within the 48 hour time limit.

Committee structure

The directors have delegated specific functions to committees, 
to assist the board in meeting their oversight responsibilities. 
The board has established standing committees in this regard. 
The board committees are constituted with sufficient non-
executive representation.  The board committees are subject 
to regular evaluation by the board, so as to ascertain their 
level of performance and effectiveness.  

The committees act in accordance with approved terms of 
reference, which are reviewed annually – allowing the directors 
to confirm whether or not the committees have functioned in 
accordance with these (written terms of reference) during the 
financial year.

Executive committees 

Members
Mr J Swanepoel Mr B Burger

Mr L Kuyper Mr P Ashton
Ms P Mostert Ms R Delport
Mr S Blyth Ms A Terblanche
Mr J Oberholzer Mr M Mahlaba
Ms C Steynberg Mr L da Silva
Mr C van der Berg Mr J Reyneke

Executive committees

The executive committees, which are responsible for the daily 
running of the group and the subsidiary companies, meet 
on a fortnightly basis; reviewing current operations in detail, 
developing strategy and policy proposals for consideration by 
the Board and monitoring the implementation of its directives.

Executive management and the board work closely together 
in determining the strategic objectives of the group. Authority 
has been delegated to the chief executive officer and the group 
executive committee by the board for the implementation of 
strategy and the ongoing management of the business. The 
board is apprised of progress through reporting at Board 
meetings and regular communication with management. 

The responsibilities of the group executive include: 

· monitoring and managing risk

· developing and implementing the group strategic plan

· determining human resources policies and practices

· preparing budgets and monitoring expenditure

· monitoring operational performance against agreed 
targets

· adhering to financial and capital management policies

Audit, Risk and IT Committee (ARITC)

The responsibilities of the IT Committee as prescribed by King 
III were incorporated to that of the Audit and Risk Committee 
as a result of the interrelation of the mandates of the different 
committees. 

Members

Mr J de Villiers (Independent non-executive director and 
chairman) 

Mr R Emslie (Independent non-executive director and member) 

Mr T Murray (Non-executive director and member)

The independent external auditors and the designated 
advisors attend the meetings as standing invitees. The chief 
executive officer and financial director attend the meetings 
by invitation.  The independent internal auditor attends the 
meetings when applicable.
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The Audit, Risk and IT Committee report can be found in the 
annual financial statements on pages 36 to 39.

The Audit, Risk and IT Committee act in accordance with an 
updated and approved terms of reference.

The Audit, Risk and IT Committee met three times in the 
financial year.  Attendance of committee meetings is available 
on page 23.

Social, Ethics and Remuneration Committee (SERC) 

Members

Mr J de Villiers (Independent non-executive director and 
chairman)

Mr R Emslie (Independent non-executive director and member)

The chief executive officer and financial director attend the 
meetings by invitation. 

The Social, Ethics and Remuneration Committee met four 
times in the financial year. No executive directors participate 
in discussions regarding their own remuneration and 
benefits; neither do they have a vote at meetings. Details 
on the attendance of the Social, Ethics and Remuneration 
Committee meetings are available on page 23.

The Social, Ethics and Remuneration Committee act in 
accordance with an updated and approved terms of reference.  

The chairman of the Social, Ethics and Remuneration 
Committee reports to the board after every meeting held. The 
chairman of the committee attends annual general meetings 
to answer shareholder questions.  

Role of the Social, Ethics and Remuneration Committee

The Social, Ethics and Remuneration Committee’s roles and 
responsibilities include, but are not limited to:

Remuneration:-

· oversee the setting and administering of remuneration at 
all levels in the group

· oversee the establishment of a remuneration policy that 
will promote the achievement of strategic objectives and 
encourage individual performance

· ensure that the remuneration policy is put to a non-
binding advisory vote at the general meeting of 
shareholders once every year

· review the outcomes of the implementation of the 
remuneration policy for whether the set objectives are 
being achieved

· ensure that the mix of fixed and variable pay, in cash, 
shares and other elements, meets the group’s needs and 
strategic objectives

· satisfy itself as to the accuracy of recorded performance 
measures that govern the vesting of incentives

· ensure that all benefits, including retirement benefits and 
other financial arrangements, are justified and correctly 
valued

· consider the results of the evaluation of the performance 
of the chief executive officer and other executive directors, 
both as a directors and as executives in determining 
remuneration

· select an appropriate comparative group when comparing 
remuneration levels

· regularly review incentive schemes to ensure continued 
contribution to shareholder value and that these are 
administered in terms of the rules

· consider the appropriateness of early vesting of share-
based schemes at the end of employment

· advise on the remuneration of non-executive directors

· oversee the preparation and recommendation of the 
remuneration report to the board for inclusion in the 
integrated report as to whether it: 

a. is accurate, complete and transparent

b. provides a clear explanation of how the remuneration 
policy has been implemented

c. provides sufficient forward-looking information 
for the shareholders to pass a special resolution in 
terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, 2008
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Social and ethics:

· monitoring the group’s activities, having regard to any 
relevant legislation, other legal requirements or prevailing 
codes of best practice, with regard to matters relating to:

a. social and economic development, including the 
group’s standing in terms of the goals and purposes of:

o the 10 principles set out in the United Global 
Compact Principles

o the OECD recommendations regarding corruption

o the Employment Equity Act

o the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act

b. Good Corporate Citizenship, including the 
company’s:

o promotion of equality, prevention of unfair 
discrimination, and reduction of corruption

o contribution to development of the communities 
in which its activities are predominantly 
conducted or within which its products and 
services are predominantly conducted

o record of sponsorship, donation and charitable giving

c. the environment, health and public safety, including 
the impact of the company’s activities and of its 
products or services

d. consumer relationships, including the group’s 
advertising, public relations and compliance with 
consumer protection laws

e. Labour and Employment, including:

o the group’s standing in terms of the 
International Labour Organisation Protocol on 
decent work and working conditions

o the group’s employment relationships, and 
its contribution towards the educational 
development of its employees

· drawing matters within its mandate to the attention of 
the board as the occasion requires

· reporting, through one of its members, to the shareholders 
of the company at the annual general meeting on the 
matters within its mandate

Remuneration structure

The remuneration structure is delegated as follows:

· the Remuneration Committee approves executive director 
remuneration

· the Remuneration Committee approves executive 
committee members’ remuneration, as proposed by 
management

· the Remuneration Committee approves subsidiary 
directors’ fees, as proposed by management

· management approves employees’ remuneration

Group remuneration philosophy

The group’s remuneration philosophy complements its 
business strategy. The group employs high-calibre individuals 
with integrity, intellect and a sense of innovation. It is 
fundamental to our business culture that all employees 
subscribe to the values, ethics and philosophy of SilverBridge. 

The remuneration of the board, executive members and 
employees is fair and market related. The board, with the 
assistance of the Social, Ethics and Remuneration Committee, 
will maintain this approach, so as to attract and retain 
suitable employees and board members – to the benefit of 
the stakeholders. The board acknowledges the importance of 
motivating individual and team performance and therefore 
applies its remuneration philosophy equitably, fairly and 
consistently in relation to job responsibilities, the markets in 
which the group operates and personal performance.  

The group rewards executive directors and employees as 
follows:

· market related and fair annual packages (base salary and 
benefits)

· annual performance bonuses

· SilverBridge employee share ownership and share 
incentive schemes
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Annual performance bonus

In addition to the employee’s fixed remuneration package, 
all staff members participate in an annual performance 
bonus scheme - to reward the achievement of agreed group 
financial, strategic and personal performance objectives. 

Employee share ownership and share incentive schemes

The SilverBridge employee share ownership and share incentive 
schemes were approved by shareholders on 3 July 2009 and 
amendments thereto were approved on 25 June 2010. 

These schemes were introduced for the purpose of providing 
an opportunity to the employees of the group to acquire 
shares - either directly, through utilising bonus schemes 
implemented by the company from time to time, or through 
the granting of options. The schemes provide incentives for 
employees to actively advance the interests of the group, to 
the ultimate benefit of the group’s stakeholders.  

Please see pages 93 to 97 in the annual financial statements 
for the share options granted by the board.

Nomination Committee

Members

Mr R Emslie (Chairman) 

Mr J Swanepoel (Chief executive officer)

JSE Listings Requirement 3.84 (a) requires that there must 
be a policy detailing the procedures for appointments to the 
board of directors. Such appointments must be formal and 
transparent, and a matter for the board of directors as a whole, 
assisted where appropriate by a Nomination Committee. We 
confirm that SilverBridge complied with this provision.  The 
same listing requirement further requires that the Nomination 
Committee must constitute only non-executive directors, 
of whom the majority must be independent (as defined in 
paragraph 3.84(f) (iii)), and should be chaired by the chairman 
of the board of directors;

The Nomination Committee was not limited to non-executive 
directors as the chief executive officer assisted the chairman 
of the board in consideration of nominations. Details on 
the attendance of the Nomination Committee meetings are 
available on page 23. 

The board will consider the reconstitution of the committee in 
line with the requirements of the JSE Limited in the next year.

The committee acts in accordance with approved terms of 
reference, detailing the procedures for appointment to the 
board of directors. Appointments are formal and transparent 
and a matter for the entire board’s consideration. The 
responsibility of the committee extends to both new directors 
and directors available for re-election. The committee 
considers the past performance of the director, his or her 
contribution to the group and the objectivity of their business 
judgment calls.  

Role of the Nomination Committee

The committee is responsible for identifying and evaluating 
suitable candidates for appointment to the board.  It ensures 
the optimal functioning of the board and oversees its 
composition.  

The Nomination Committee:

· recommends directors to the board, ensuring that it has 
an appropriate spread of skills, experience and diversity 
(of backgrounds and views)

· assesses new directors and whether the basic requirements 
for directorship in the Companies Act are met

· performs background checks on individuals

· advises on the composition of the board (structure, 
size and balance between non-executive and executive 
directors)

· together with the board evaluates whether collectively 
(but not necessarily individually) the Audit, Risk and IT 
Committee has the necessary skills to perform its function 
and responsibilities

· coordinates the board evaluation process

· is involved in the evaluation of the directors, as well as in 
the evaluation of procedures and results

Investment Committee

Members

Mr J de Villiers (Independent non-executive director and 
chairman) 

Mr R Emslie (Independent non-executive director and member)

Mr L Kuyper (Financial director)
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Established by the board of SilverBridge, the group’s 
Investment Committee considers investments proposed 
by management regarding the group and makes such 
recommendations to the board as it deems necessary. The 
Investment Committee functions independently from the 
board, but under an approved term of reference from the 
board. The primary purpose of the Investment Committee is 
to consider projects, acquisitions and the disposal of assets - 
in line with the group’s overall strategy.  

The responsibilities and duties of the Investment Committee 
include, but are not limited to:

· considering commitments, acquisitions or disposals in 
line with the strategy of the group

· changes in the scope of projects

· performing such other investment related functions as 
may be designated by the board from time to time

· considering the viability of the capital project and/or 
acquisition and/or disposal and the effect it may have on 
the group’s cash flow, as well as its relevance to group 
strategy

· ensuring that due diligence procedures are followed 
when acquiring or disposing of assets

The Investment Committee met three times in the financial 
year.  Details of the attendance of the Investment Committee 
meetings are available on page 23.

Analysis of shareholding

Please see the analysis of shareholding report on pages  
33 and 34.

Employees 

Approximately 15% of the group’s employees are from 
historically disadvantaged backgrounds. As SilverBridge 
mainly employs graduates, we have noted with satisfaction 
the increasing levels of suitably qualified people from 
historically disadvantaged backgrounds graduating from 
South African Universities. 

At SilverBridge, we promote a healthy, secure and participative 
social and working environment for our staff, business 
associates and (wherever appropriate) the public at large.

Training and promotion

SilverBridge launched a learnership and internship program 
for previously disadvantaged individuals in 2010. The table 
below details the number of positions per skill type developed 
through the two programs and our current intake. 

The internship program will be expanded to include a program 
for our specialised position of product implementation 
consultants (with an actuarial science background). This will 
be incorporated in the current learnership program focussing 
on previously disadvantaged individuals.

Position Type 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Tester/Developer Internship 1 1

Business 
Administration 
Learnership

Learnership 2 2 2 1 1

Product 
Configurators

Internship 4 2 1 2

Technical intern Internship 1 1

HR Assistant 
Learnership

Advanced 
Learnership

1 1

Financial intern Internship 1 1

Total 7 5 3 4 6

Social responsibility concerns

Eaglenest Home for Orphans acts as a feeding scheme, 
drop-in centre and early child care development centre for 
approximately 236 children affected and/or infected with HIV 
and AIDS, in the Mofolo Village area in Soweto. 

Eaglenest has been registered as a non-profit organisation 
(NPO) with the Department of Social Development since  
3 October 2006. The NPO has a constitution as prescribed by 
the Department of Social Development. 
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The workforce of SilverBridge Holdings made financial and 
other contributions to Eaglenest. Our employees have invested 
their time and energy in this local non-profit organisation and 
have supported them on special occasions by organising and 
hosting various projects throughout the year.

Manong Youth Developers (MyD) is a Limpopo-based non-
profit organisation (NPO/ NGO), founded in August 2007. The 
aim is to help develop young people in our rural communities 
through education, information and life skills; all of which will 
help enrich their lives and inspire them to realise and maximise 
their potential, so they can soar together as future leaders, 
economic role players and community developers who are 
progressively working to improve the living conditions of their 
people. 

MyD was founded by, consists of and is managed by a group 
of young people (students and young professionals) from the 
Ga-Rakgoadi region of the Limpopo province. 

SilverBridge has been actively involved in sponsoring MyD 
over the past three years, not only by providing financial 
aid, but also by taking part in workshops and by teaching at 
revision sessions before matriculation exams.  We are pleased 
that a remarkable improvement in Matric results was recorded 
for the schools in which MyD was involved.

Business enterprise development initiatives 

In 2010 SilverBridge afforded Junior Tsela the opportunity 
to start her own logistics and transportation management 
business (Silver Rainbow Logistics) as part of SilverBridge’s 
Business Enterprise Development initiative. 

Silver Rainbow Logistics is a 100% female owned, BEE 
accredited Logistics Management Company. They are reliable, 
affordable and provide excellent business support services 
to small and medium sized businesses, corporates and the 
government. These services include office logistics (stationery 
supply and office management), transportation (shuttle 
services and deliveries), commercial cleaning and recycling 
projects.

Their aim is to create a positive social and economic impact 
through job creation and supporting existing businesses. They 
can achieve this by mastering support services and gradual 
service expansion.

Political donations and affiliations

As a proudly South African concern, SilverBridge supports 
the democratic system in South Africa – we do not, however, 
make donations to individual political parties. 

A going concern

The board is satisfied that the group has adequate resources 
to continue operating for the next twelve months and into 
the foreseeable future. The financial statements presented 
have been prepared on a going concern basis. The board is 
apprised of the group’s going concern status at each board 
meeting. 

Investor relations and communication with stakeholders

The group strongly believes that communication with its 
stakeholders is vital.  Investor relations activities include 
interim and final results presentations to investors - available 
on the SilverBridge website:  www.silverbridge.co.za

The group will continue to have an interactive relationship with 
shareholders, investors, analysts, investors and regulators.

Designated advisor

PSG Capital was appointed as the designated advisors of the 
Group on 1 February 2015 and remains as such.  

Transfer secretary

Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd is the appointed 
transfer secretary to the Group. They assist with enquiries 
pertaining to shareholdings.  Shareholders can address 
shareholding related queries to PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 
South Africa, 2107.
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SUMMARy OF MEETINGS HELD

Key
Present

Absent

Apology

Alternate

Meeting cancelled

Not Appointed

Board
Jeremy de Villiers

100%

Tyrrel Murray

75% 25%

Robert Emslie

100%

Jaco Swanepoel

100%

Hasheel Govind

100%

Lee Kuyper

100%

Jocobeth Chikaonda

100%

Stuart Blyth

50% 50%

Company Secretary

100%

Audit, Risk &
IT Committee

Jeremy de Villiers

100%

Tyrrel Murray

100%

Robert Emslie

100%

Company Secretary

100%

Investment
Committee

Jeremy de Villiers

100%

Robert Emslie

100%

Company Secretary

100%

Company Secretary

Lee Kuyper

100%

Nomination
Committee

Jaco Swanepoel

100%

JJJaco SSSwanepoellll

Robert Emslie

100%

Social, Ethics &
Remuneration
Committee

Jeremy de Villiers

100%

Robert Emslie

100%

Company Secretary

100%
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
King III Compliance

“Apply or explain” principle of King III 

The board supports the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct as recommended by the King III Report on Corporate 
Governance for South Africa 2009 (“King III”). 

This integrated report contains a summary of SilverBridge’s application of the principles contained in Chapter 2 of King 
III as well as those principles that link to the other chapters of King III. An analysis of the application of the 75 corporate 
governance principles is however available on our website: www.silverbridge.co.za.

The board continues to consider the recommendations of King III with reference to the group and company’s size and stages 
of development. 

PRINCIPLES OF KING III COMMENTS

2.1 The board should act as the focal 
point for and custodian of corporate 
governance

All deliberations and decision making by the board is conducted 
with the highest standards of corporate governance in mind.  
The group applies this principle through compliance with the board 
charter and with the Companies Act

2.2 The board should appreciate that 
strategy, risk, performance and 
sustainability are inseparable

Quarterly review sessions are held where the group’s strategy, 
performance and risks are reviewed by the board to ensure the 
business remains sustainable

2.3 The board should provide effective 
leadership based on an ethical 
foundation

Effective and ethical leadership is entrenched in the board’s decision 
making. The board follows the principles of the company’s code 
of ethics, good corporate governance in terms of King III and the 
responsibilities in accordance with the SERC

2.4 The board should ensure that the 
company is and is seen to be a 
responsible corporate citizen

The board acknowledges that it is not merely responsible for 
the group’s financial bottom line, but rather for the group’s 
performance within the complete context in which it operates.  
SilverBridge continues to support specific causes as reported in 
this integrated report in the governance section. The board also 
monitors such activities through the SERC

2.5 The board should ensure that the 
company’s ethics are managed 
effectively

The board adopted and endorses a Code of Ethics and Conduct 
for the group, which is reviewed on a regular basis and monitored 
through the SERC

2.6 The board should ensure that the 
company has an effective and 
independent audit committee

The Audit Committee (part of the ARITC) is comprised of two 
independent non-executive directors, one of whom is the chairman 
of the board. All of the members have the necessary skills and 
experience required of the Audit Committee. An audit charter and 
work plan have been implemented, and these are managed and 
updated continuously

2013Connect Software 
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PRINCIPLES OF KING III COMMENTS

2.7 The board should be responsible for the 
governance of risk

A Risk Committee (part of the ARITC) has been appointed with an 
appropriate charter and work plan. This committee also monitors 
the group risks through the use of an established risk management 
framework

2.8 The board should be responsible for 
information technology (IT) governance

The board takes overall responsibility for IT governance.  This 
has been incorporated in the IT Committee (part of the ARITC). 
A working group has been established which acts within the 
parameters of the company’s IT charter and reports back to the IT 
Committee on IT performance and risk management areas

2.9 The board should ensure that the 
company complies with applicable 
laws and considers adherence to non-
binding rules, codes and standards

As part of the duties of the SERC it represents the board on 
monitoring compliance with all applicable laws and regulations, as 
well as rules, codes and standards

2.10 The board should ensure that there is 
an effective risk-based internal audit

The board implemented an effective risk based internal audit function 
by appointing Mr Craig Smith CA (SA) as the independent internal 
auditor. The internal audit function is guided by and reports to the 
ARITC

2.11 The board should appreciate that 
stakeholders’ perceptions affect the 
company’s reputation

The company understands that communication with stakeholders in 
respect of financial and non-financial information is vital and open 
dialogue is actively pursued

2.12 The board should ensure the integrity 
of the company’s integrated report

The integrated report 2014 was reviewed by both the ARITC and the 
board of directors

2.13 The board should report on the 
effectiveness of the company’s system 
of internal controls

The effectiveness of internal control is reviewed by the ARITC 
and any significant matters are reported in the integrated report. 
Management reports on an annual basis to the ARITC on the 
adequacy and operating effectiveness of entity level controls, 
financial report controls, fraud and risk controls, key account 
balances and key disclosure controls

2.14 The board and its directors should act 
in the best interests of the company

These principles are set out in the board charter

2.15 The board should consider business 
rescue proceedings or other turnaround 
mechanisms as soon as the company is 
financially distressed as defined in the 
Act

Not applicable
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PRINCIPLES OF KING III COMMENTS

2.16 The board should elect a chairman of 
the board who is an independent non-
executive director. The chief executive 
officer of the company should not also 
fulfil the role of chairman of the board

An independent non-executive chairman has been appointed. 
The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer are 
separate

2.17 The board should appoint the chief 
executive officer and establish a 
framework for the delegation of 
authority

A delegation of authority policy and an authorisation matrix are in 
place for the group

2.18 The board should comprise a balance of 
power, with a majority of non-executive 
directors. The majority of non-executive 
directors should be independent

SilverBridge has a unitary board structure, with eight directors. The 
board composition is as follows:
•	 Chief	executive	officer
•	 Financial	director
•	 One	executive	director
•	 Independent	non-executive	chairman
•	 One	independent	non-executive	director
•	 Three	non-executive	directors

2.19 Directors should be appointed through 
a formal process

Directors are appointed by means of a transparent and formal 
procedure, governed by the Nomination Committee’s terms of 
reference. The Nomination Committee is responsible for selecting 
and recommending the appointment of competent, qualified and 
experienced directors

2.20 The induction of and ongoing training 
and   development of directors should 
be conducted through formal processes

All new directors are subjected to an induction program. The 
SilverBridge directors attend the AltX Director Induction Programme.
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PRINCIPLES OF KING III COMMENTS

2.21 The board should be assisted by a 
competent, suitably qualified and 
experienced company secretary

A suitably competent and qualified company secretary is in place 
that assists the board in meeting its fiduciary obligation. The 
company secretary is evaluated annually

2.22 The evaluation of the board, its 
committees and the individual directors 
should be performed every year

No formal assessment of the board was performed in the current 
period.  However, the chairman and chief executive officer review 
the board’s performance informally on an ongoing basis which 
includes monitoring the contribution of individual directors. The 
board will perform a formal assessment in the next financial period

2.23 The board should delegate certain 
functions to well-structured committees 
but without abdicating its own 
responsibilities

Proper committees have been established and appointed. The 
following committees are in place:
•	 Audit,	Risk	and	IT	Committee	(ARITC)
•	 Social,	Ethics	and	Remuneration	Committee	(SERC)
•	 Investment	Committee
•	 Nomination	Committee
•	 Certain	special	purpose	sub-committees	from	time	to	time

2.24 A governance framework should be 
agreed between the group and its 
subsidiary boards

The holding company and its subsidiaries operate as a single 
corporate group and subsidiaries are required to entrench the 
holding company governance framework within their day-to-day 
activities. No separate Board meetings are held on subsidiary level, 
however they are being dealt with sufficiently in the group board 
meetings

2.25 Companies should remunerate directors 
and executives fairly and responsibly

This principle is addressed at the SERC meetings

2.26 Companies should disclose the 
remuneration of each individual 
director and certain senior executives

The remuneration of each director has been disclosed in the 
Integrated Report.

2.27 Shareholders should approve the 
company’s remuneration policy

The Nominations Committee and SERC remunerates fairly according 
to the group’s remuneration policy which is set out in the integrated 
report and which provides that remuneration is based on basic 
salary, performance bonuses and share incentive schemes. This 
policy was established and is reviewed by the Remuneration 
Committee for recommendation to the board, which the board in 
turn recommends to the shareholders

2015 SilverBridge 20 year anniversary
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW

ANNUITy INCOME R’Millions

40
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F2009 F2010 F2011H2 2011* 2012 2013 2014 2015

What we measure at SilverBridge

Metric Description  Report

Accounting Chart of accounts grouped in higher level descriptions. Financial income statement & Balance sheet

Cost centre
Resources must be allocated to a cost centre.  
Each cost centre receives income (recovery) based on the 
time booked by the resource.

Reports on cost centre costs and recovery

Function Allocation of cost items per revenue type, for direct costs 
and indirect costs. Functional income statement

Project

Each cost item must either be allocated to a project or a 
resource. 
Allocation of project costs either directly, or through time 
allocation of the resources.

Project profitability

Resource
Each cost item must be either allocated to a project or a 
resource. 
Costs allocated to projects through time allocation.

Resource utilisation and recovery compared 
to actual costs 

Client Each project is linked to a client. Client profitability

* For a 16 month period

REVENUE R’Millions
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CASH R’000
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-10 000

OPERATING PROFIT R’000

HEPS (CENTS)

50,00

0

F2009 F2010 F2011H2 2011** 2012 2013 2014 2015

-50,00

* For a 16 month period

** 16 months and excludes the purchase price liability adjustment of R11.7m
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Summary of financial information
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Revenue 80 943 83 844 82 247 82 576 121 042
Other income 15 430 316 590 1 074
Personnel expenses (55 161) (57 730) (60 279) (66 931) (94 520)
Depreciation and amortisation (1 699) (2 198) (2 990) (3 058) (3 977)
Professional fees paid for services (4 246) (3 892) (4 117) (4 885) (6 671)
Other expenses (8 840) (12 159) (11 962) (12 395) (19 952)

Operating profit/(loss) 11 012 8 295 3 215 (4 103) (3 004)
Impairment loss recognised on intangible assets – – – – (27 689)
Impairment loss recognised on non-financial assets – – – (466) –
Fair value adjustment – – – – 11 737
Impairment loss recognised on withholding tax – – – (2 140) –
Loss on disposal of subsidiary – – – (668) –
Loss on disposal of associate – – – (76) –
Share of loss in associate – – – – (34)
Finance income 468 167 182 156 396
Finance costs (1) (27) (310) (164) (14)

Profit/(loss) before income tax 11 479 8 435 3 087 (7 461) (18 608)
Income tax (expense) /income (3 136) (2 516) (765) 858 (5 656)

Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive income for    
the period 8 343 5 919 2 322 (6 603) (24 264)

Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive income    
attributable to:    
Equity holders of the holding Company 8 343 5 919 2 322 (6 603) (24 782)
Non-controlling interest – – – – 518

Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive income    
for the period 8 343 5 919 2 322 (6 603) (24 264)

Consolidated statement of financial position     

ASSETS     
Non-current assets 14 766 15 086 14 808 17 938 17 406
Current assets 37 191 27 429 7 910 16 454 34 028
Income tax receivable – – 1 102 833 5 548
Withholding tax rebates receivable 1 511 953 – – –
Revenue recognised not yet invoiced 2 684 6 635 1 297 712 530
Trade and other receivables 14 782 11 907 12 308 10 388 11 450
Cash and cash equivalents 18 214 7 934 3 203 4 521 16 500

Total assets 51 957 42 515 32 718 34 392 51 434

Equity 39 188 30 501 24 229 21 462 27 484
Non-current liabilities 308 30 - - -
Current liabilities 12 461 11 984 8 489 12 930 23 950
Total liabilities 12 768 12 014 8 489 12 930 23 950

Total equity and liabilities 51 957 42 515 32 718 34 392 51 434

OPERATIONAL REVIEW
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Consolidated statement of cash flows    

 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Cash generated (utilised in)/from operations 12 817 7 858 157 (7 841) 17 704

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 11 922 6 742 (94) (8 632) 12 315
Net cash used in investing activities (1 642) (2 011) (1 224) (3 346) (8 516)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities – – – (1) (1 731)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash     
equivalents 10 280 4 731 (1 318) (11 979) 2 068
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
year 7 934 3 203 4 521 16 500 14 432

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 18 214 7 934 3 203 4 521 16 500

Integrated performance indicators

 FY2015 FY2014 FY2013 FY2012
  R’000 R’000 R’000  R’000

OBJECTIVE
Financial (R’000)
  Revenue 80 943 83 844 82 247 82 576
  Operating profit/(loss) 11 012 8 295 3 215 (4 103)
  Headline earnings per share 24.1 17.01 7.56 (19.04)*
  Cash 18 214 7 934 3 203 4 521
  Work in progress 2 056 6 293 (384)  (4 645)

Economic
  BEE Score (Level 4) (Level 5) (Level 4) (Level 4)

Social
  BEE Enterprise Development (R) 247 692** 734 778 749 799 402 644
  Broad-Based BEE Employees 7 9 5 12
  Social Development Spend (R) 129 088** 148 023 118 432 118 982
  Total Employees 78 81 85 99

* Excludes fair value adjustment
** For a 9 month period
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Group annual financial statements and 
annual financial statements
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Corporate information IBC

The group financial statements and financial statements have been audited in compliance with S30 of the Companies 
Act of 2008.

These annual financial statements were prepared by Petro Mostert (CA) SA (Head of Finance and Shared Services) and 
reviewed by Lee Kuyper (CA) SA (Financial Director).

The annual financial statements were published on 21 September 2015.
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shareholder analysis

shareholder spread (strate)

 no. of  percentage of  percentage 
as at 30 June 2015 shareholders  shareholders no. of shares of shares

0 – 1 000 Shares 112 38% 50 600 0%
1 001 – 10 000 Shares 94 32% 413 437 2%
10 001 – 100 000 Shares 63 22% 2 352 208 12%
100 001 – 500 000 Shares  15 5% 2 926 243 14%
500 001 – 1 000 000 Shares And Over 9 3% 14 976 501 72%

Sub Total 293 100% 20 718 989 100%

shareholder spread (certificated)

0 – 1 000 Shares 44 53% 20 675 0%
1 001 – 10 000 Shares 32 39% 103 350 1%
10 001 – 100 000 Shares 5 6% 165 000 1%
100 001 – 500 000 Shares - - - -
500 001 – 1 000 000 Shares And Over 2 2% 13 773 457 98%

Sub Total 83 100% 14 062 482 100%

total 376 100% 34 781 471 100%

public and non-public shareholders

Non – Public Shareholders  8 2% 23 913 772 69%
Public Shareholders 368 98% 10 867 699 31%

Total 376 100% 34 781 471 100%

major shareholders

Beneficial shareholders holding other than as a director, directly or indirectly beneficially interested in 5% or more.

as at 30 June 2015 no. of shares %

CShell 448 Proprietary Limited * 11 519 457 33%
NMT Group Proprietary Limited**   2 346 000 7%
Cannon SBSA ITF Citadel SA Equity 1 776 084 5%

* CShell 448 Proprietary Limited is 51% owned by Kagiso Tiso Holdings Proprietary Limited (RF) and 49% by  
MMI Holdings (Limited)

** Previously Amabubesi Capital Information Services

Note: No significant change in these interests occurred between the end of the financial year and the date of this report.
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shareholder analysis

directors’ interest

The direct and indirect beneficial interests of the directors in the Company’s securities as at the date of the last financial 
year-end, as far as could be determined, are as follows: 

   total 
 Beneficial  Beneficial Beneficial  
 direct indirect percentage

as at 30 June 2015
R Emslie 694 876 – 2.00%
J Swanepoel 7 471 115 – 21.48%
J de Villiers  –   –   0.00%
S Blyth*** – – 0.00%
H Govind  –   –   0.00%
L Kuyper  –   –   0.00%
T Murray****  –   –   0.00%
J Chickaonda –  –  0.00%

Total 8 165 991 – 23.48%

as at 30 June 2014
R Emslie 692 376 – 1.99%
J Swanepoel 7 471 115 – 21.48%
J de Villiers  –   –   0.00%
H Govind  –   –   0.00%
L Kuyper  –   –   0.00%
T Murray****  –   –   0.00%
L Gcwabe* –   –   0.00%
J Chickaonda** –  –  0.00%

Total 8 163 491 – 23.47%

* Resigned 13 February 2014

** Appointed 25 June 2014

*** Appointed 12 February 2015   

**** No direct beneficial interest 

Note: No change in these interests occurred between the end of the financial year and the date of this report.
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directors’ responsiBility statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the group annual financial statements  
and annual financial statements of SilverBridge Holdings Limited, comprising the statements of financial position at  
30 June 2015, and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and the notes to the financial statements which include a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act of South Africa. In addition, the directors are responsible for preparing the directors’ report.

The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and for 
maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk management.

The directors have made an assessment of the ability of the company and its subsidiaries to continue as going concerns 
and have no reason to believe that the businesses will not be going concerns in the year ahead.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the group financial statements and financial statements are fairly 
presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

approval of group annual financial statements and annual financial statements

The group annual financial statements and annual financial statements of SilverBridge Holdings Limited, as identified 
in the first paragraph, were approved by the board of directors on 16 September 2015 and signed by the authorised 
directors

Jaco swanepoel lee Kuyper
Chief Executive Officer Financial Director

certification By company secretary
In terms of section 88(2) (e) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, 
Silverbridge Holdings Limited has lodged with the Commissioner all such returns and notices as are required by the 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008, and that all such returns and notices appear to be true, correct and up to date.

melinda Gous
Company Secretary
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audit, risK and it committee report

dear shareholder,

The Chairman of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee, Mr J de Villiers, has pleasure in submitting this report for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2015 in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008 (No. 71 of 2008) and the  
JSE Listings Requirements. 

The Audit, Risk and IT Committee continued to act in accordance with an approved terms of reference. 

audit, risK and it committee memBers

mr J de Villiers (independent non-executive director and chairman) 
mr r emslie (independent non-executive director and member) 
mr t murray (non-executive director and member) 

The independent external auditors and the designated advisors attend the meetings as standing invitees. 

The Company Secretary of the Group is the secretary of the Committee and attends all meetings. The CEO and Financial 
Director attend the meetings by invitation. 

In terms of the Companies Act 2008, (Act 71 of 2008), shareholders are required to elect the members of this Committee 
at each annual general meeting. The appointment of J de Villiers, R Emslie and T Murray were approved previously and 
the membership is again subject to shareholders re-electing them as members of the Committee at the annual general 
meeting, to be held on Tuesday, 27 October 2015 at 11h00.

The proposed members of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee have the necessary academic qualifications and experience. 

Principle 3.2.1 of King III recommends that all members of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee be independent  
non-executive directors and that the chairman of the Board may not be a member of the Committee. 

Mr J de Villiers, an independent non-executive director served as the chairman of the Committee and was nominated 
for re-election to this Committee. 

Mr T Murray, a non-executive director, served on the Audit, Risk and IT Committee and was nominated for re-election to 
this Committee. Mr T Murray continued throughout the year and applied his mind independently to matters relating to 
the Audit, Risk and IT Committee. We confirm that Mr. T Murray does not hold any shares in his personal name neither 
does he have any indirect beneficial interests in the shareholding. 

Mr R Emslie, the independent non-executive chairman of the Board continued to serve as a member of the Audit, Risk 
and IT Committee. He was nominated for re-election to serve on this Committee. The Board through its Nomination 
Committee is in the process of recruiting more independent non-executive directors to serve on the Audit, Risk and  
IT Committee. Biographical details of the Committee members appear on pages 10 and 11.

Fees paid to the Committee members are detailed on pages 89 and 90, and the proposed fees for 2016 are disclosed  
on page 104.

meetings

The Committee meets at least three times per annum. The chairman of the Committee verbally reports to the Board 
after every Audit, Risk and IT Committee meeting held. Details of Committee meeting attendance is available on 
page 23.

Additional Committee meetings may be convened when necessary.
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audit, risK and it committee report

the committee’s role

The Audit, Risk and IT Committee is a statutory Committee, with a role and responsibility as outlined by Section 94  
of the Companies Act, the recommendations set out in King III and the JSE Listings Requirements. The Audit, Risk and  
IT Committee has an independent role, and is accountable to the Board. 

external auditor independence

The Committee is mandated to ensure that the appointment of the auditor complies with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, and any other legislation relating to the appointment of auditors. The Committee, in line with section 90 of the 
Companies Act, considered the independence of the external auditors and was satisfied with it. It was confirmed that 
the audit firm, and designated auditor, are accredited - appearing on the JSE list of accredited auditors.

The Committee recommended the appointment of PWC Inc. as the independent registered audit firm, with the individual 
registered auditor as Deon Storm. 

fees paid to external auditors, and terms of engagement

The Committee determines the fees to be paid to the auditor, as well as the auditor’s terms of engagement.

The approved, normal annual audit fee for the financial year under review amounted to R702 110. The Committee 
authorised the fee, after a clearly defined scope was agreed upon by the company and the auditors. 

During the external audit evaluation process, the Audit, Risk and IT Committee considered various criteria including:

- audit planning

- technical abilities

- audit process and outputs

- quality control

- business insight

- independence and general factors

non-audit services

The Committee is to determine the nature and extent of any non-audit services that the auditor may provide to the 
company. There were no non-audit services approved or provided. 

evaluation of the annual financial statements

As part of its report to the Board, the Audit, Risk and IT Committee commented on the financial statements, the 
accounting practices and the internal financial controls of the company. The Committee stays abreast of current and 
emerging trends in accounting standards. 

The Committee confirms that they have reviewed and discussed the financial statements with the independent external 
auditor and Financial Director. The external auditor has unrestricted access to the Group’s records and management. The 
auditor furnishes a written report to the Committee on significant findings, arising from the annual audit and is able to 
raise matters of concern directly with the chairman of the Committee. There were no limitations imposed on the scope 
of the external audit. 

The Committee has reviewed the consolidated and separate financial statements of the company, and is satisfied that 
they comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.
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audit, risK and it committee report

The Committee did not receive any concerns or complaints, within or outside the company, relating to the accounting 
practices and internal audit of the company, the content or auditing of the company’s financial statements, the internal 
financial controls of the company, or any related matter.

After agreeing that the going concern premise was appropriate, the Committee recommended the adoption of the 
annual financial statements by the Board at a Board meeting held on 16 September 2015. These financial statements will 
be open for discussion at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The chairman of the Committee, and in the instance 
of his absence, another member of the Committee, will attend the annual general meeting to answer questions falling 
under the mandate of the Committee. 

expertise and experience of the financial director and finance function

The Audit, Risk and IT Committee has executed its responsibility in terms of paragraph 3.84(h) of the JSE Listings 
Requirements, and confirms that it was satisfied with the expertise and the experience of the Financial Director, Mr L 
Kuyper. 

The Committee was satisfied with the overall expertise and adequacy of resources in the finance department, as well as 
the experience of the senior members of management responsible for it.

internal audit

Internal audit activity is governed by an internal audit charter which was approved by the Audit, Risk and IT Committee 
and is reviewed annually. The charter defines the purpose, authority and responsibilities of the function.

The head of internal audit reports at each Audit, Risk and IT Committee meeting and has a direct reporting line to the 
chairman of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee. Internal audit operates independently of executive management but has 
access to the Chief Executive Officer and Financial Director. Internal Audit conducts a formal risk assessment of the entire 
business annually, from which a comprehensive risk-based audit plan is derived. 

Significant control weaknesses are reported. We confirm that there were no significant control weaknesses during the 
year under review. 

The Board, as a whole, also considers internal controls. While considering the information and explanations given by 
management, as well as discussions held with the external auditor on audit results and internal audit, the Committee is 
of the opinion that the system of internal financial controls is effective, and forms a basis for the preparation of reliable 
financial statements. 
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audit, risK and it committee report

risk management

The Board is responsible for the risk management process, whilst management is accountable to the Board for designing, 
implementing and monitoring the process of risk management in the day-to-day activities of the group. 

The Committee has a duty to:

- Review risk management policies and processes

- Review risk philosophy, strategies and policies

- Ensure risk management is integrated into business operations

- Ensure management considers and implements appropriate risk responses

- Evaluate the basis and adequacy of insurance cover

- Ensure internal audit is aligned with risk management processes

- Identify emerging areas of risk

- Ensure compliance with legislation, regulation and governance codes, including King lll

- Identify areas of governance non-compliance and propose remedial action

After considered the risk matrix, the Committee has nothing material to report. 

integrated reporting

The Committee oversaw the integrated reporting process. 

approval of the audit, risk and it committee report

The Committee confirms that it has functioned in accordance with its terms of reference for the 2015 financial year, and 
that its report to shareholders has been approved by the Board.

J de Villiers
SilverBridge Audit, Risk and IT Committee Chairman
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directors’ report

The directors have pleasure in presenting the Group annual financial statements and the annual financial statements of 
SilverBridge Holdings Limited for the year ended 30 June 2015.

1. distinction between the Group and the company

The annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 comprise:

i. the Company financial statements of SilverBridge Holdings Limited (herein referred to as the Company or 
SilverBridge); and

ii. the Group financial statements of SilverBridge, (herein referred to as the Group). 

2. nature of the business

The Group comprises a group of companies providing business solutions to the financial services industry.  
The Group consists of SilverBridge Holdings Limited, SilverBridge Software Solutions operating specifically in the long 
term insurance market, Connect Software Services, the SilverBridge Group’s implementation and support division 
and Ones & Zeros, that provided IT consulting services to the banking sector, but is now a dormant company and the 
SilverBridge Employee Share Trust. The Group is a highly specialised information technology and telecommunication 
(ITC) sector entity focusing on financial services operating in South Africa and Africa.

SilverBridge Holdings Limited is the legal holding company and a strategic investment company.

3. subsidiaries of the Group

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries and related entities are reflected in note 26: Related parties to the financial 
statements.

4. share capital

The authorised share capital of the Company comprises 200 000 000 (2014: 200 000 000) ordinary shares of  
1 cent per share. 

The issued share capital of the Company comprises 34 781 471 (2014: 34 781 471) ordinary shares of 1 cent per share.

5. Group structure

SilverBridge is the ultimate legal holding company of SilverBridge Software Solutions owning 100% of its equity 
share capital (2014: 100%), Connect Software Services owning 100% of its equity share capital (2014: 100%),  
Ones & Zeros owning 100% of its equity share capital (2014: 100%) and of the SilverBridge Employee Share Trust 
owing 100% of its Trust capital (2014: 100%). 

6. financial results for the year

The financial results of the Group and Company for the year under review are detailed in the annual financial 
statements.

7. Going concern

The directors have reviewed the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ budgets and cash flow forecasts for the year to  
30 June 2016. On the basis of this review and as the Group's current assets exceed its current liabilities, although the 
Company’s current liabilities exceed the current assets on 30 June 2015, the directors are satisfied that the Company 
and its subsidiaries will continue to operate for the foreseeable future and have adopted the going concern basis 
in preparing the financial statements.
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8. distributions to shareholders

The directors have declared and approved a final gross divened of 5 cents on 16 September 2015 for the year ended 
30 June 2015 from income reserves.

9. treasury shares 

There are 106 240 (2014: 106 240) ordinary shares held by SilverBridge Software Solutions in SilverBridge. 

10. subsequent events

No events occurred subsequent to the year end that would require the financial statements to be adjusted or 
disclosure thereof in the financial statements.

11. Borrowing powers

The borrowing powers of directors are governed by section 46 and 47 of the Articles of Association of the Company. 
The directors may borrow or raise for the purposes of the Company such sums as they deem necessary. They are 
allowed to raise or secure the payment or repayment of such moneys in such manner and upon such terms and 
conditions as they think fit. The directors shall cause a proper register to be kept in accordance with the provisions 
of the Companies Act of all mortgages and charges specifically affecting the assets of the Group.

12. directorate

The directors of the Company during the accounting period and up to the date of this report are summarised  
as follows: 

name designation appointment date resignation date

R Emslie Independent Non-executive Chairman 17 January 2011 -

J Swanepoel Chief Executive Officer 30 December 2005 -

J de Villiers Independent Non-executive director 2 October 2008 -

S Blyth Executive director 12 February 2015 -

J Chikaonda Non-executive director 25 June 2014 -

H Govind Non-executive director 14 November 2012 -

L Kuyper Financial director* 5 September 2012 -

T Murray Non-executive director 25 February 2009 -

All the directors are South African citizens.

* Financial Director since 11 September 2013.
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13. company secretary

The Company Secretary is Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services Proprietary Limited, represented by Ms M Gous.

The business and postal addresses of the Company Secretary are as follows:

Business address: postal address:

Unit 2 Corporate Corner PO Box 68528

Marco Polo Street Highveld

Highveld, Centurion, Gauteng 0169

The statutory documentation of SilverBridge is held at the business address of the Company Secretary.

14.  auditors

The Group's current year auditors are KPMG Incorporated, with Mr W Pretorius being the individual registered 
auditor.

The business and postal addresses of the auditors are as follows:

Business address: postal address:

KPMG Forum PO Box 11265

1226 Francis Baard Street Hatfield 

Hatfield, Pretoria, Gauteng 0028

0083

15. registered offices

The registered offices of both the Group and Company are as follows:

Business address: postal address:

First Floor Castle View North PO Box 11799

495 Prieska Street Erasmuskloof

Erasmuskloof, Pretoria, Gauteng 0048

0048
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independent auditor’s report

to the shareholders of silverBridge holdings limited 

We have audited the group financial statements and financial statements of SilverBridge Holdings Limited, which 
comprise the statements of financial position at 30 June 2015, and the statements of comprehensive income, changes 
in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements which include a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 44 to 97.

directors’ responsibility for the financial statements 

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South 
Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

opinion 

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate financial 
position of SilverBridge Holdings Limited at 30 June 2015, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and 
consolidated and separate cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

other reports required by the companies act 

As part of our audit of the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015, we have read the Directors’ Report, 
the Audit, Risk and IT Committee’s Report and the Certification by Company Secretary for the purpose of identifying 
whether there are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited financial statements. These reports 
are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not identified material 
inconsistencies between these reports and the audited financial statements. However, we have not audited these reports 
and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

KpmG inc.
registered auditor

Per Willem Pretorius
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Registered Auditor
Director

16 September 2015
KpmG forum, 1226 francis Baard street, hatfield, 0083

43



statements of comprehensiVe income
for the year ended 30 June 2015

 Group company
  2015 2014 2015 2014
 notes r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Revenue 7 80 943 83 844 7 579 475
Other income 8.1 15 430 3 858 –
Personnel expenses 8.2 (55 161)  (57 730)  (3 616) –
Depreciation and amortisation 8.3 (1 699) (2 198)  (8) –
Professional fees paid for services 8.4 (4 246) (3 892)  (1 259) (364)
Other expenses 8.5 (8 840)  (12 159)  (3 029) (87)

results from operating activities  11 012 8 295 3 525 24
Finance income 9 468 167 228 1
Finance costs 10 (1) (27) (1) (25)

profit before income tax  11 479 8 435 3 752 –
Income tax 11 (3 136) (2 516) 306 –

profit and total comprehensive  
income for the year  8 343 5 919 4 058 –

Earnings per share     

Basic earnings per share 12.1 24.1 17.1  
Diluted earnings per share 12.3 23.7 17.1  
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 30 June 2014

 Group company
  2015 2014 2015 2014
 notes r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

assets     
non-current assets  14 766 15 086 53 679 52 924

Equipment 13 992 1 244 184 –
Intangible assets and goodwill 14 11 286 11 110 – –
Investments in subsidiaries 15 – – 53 189 52 924
Deferred tax assets 17 441 764 306 –
Withholding tax rebates receivable 22 2 047 1 968 – –

current assets  37 191 27 429 4 204 90 

Withholding tax rebates receivable 22 1 511 953 – –
Revenue recognised not yet invoiced  2 684 6 635 – –
Trade and other receivables 18 14 782 11 907 4 130 16 
Cash and cash equivalents 19 18 214 7 934 74 74

total assets  51 957 42 515 57 883 53 014

eQuity and liaBilities     
equity  39 188 30 501 34 115 29 713

Share capital 20.1.2 348 348 348 348
Share premium 20.1.6 11 871 11 871 67 445 67 445
Treasury shares  (197) (197) – –
Share based payment reserve  462 512 462 512
Retained earnings/(accumulated loss)  26 704 17 967 (34 140) (38 592)

non-current liabilities  308 30 – –

Deferred tax liabilities 17 308 30 – –

current liabilities  12 461 11 984 23 768 23 301

Income tax payable  1 785 611 – -
Trade and other payables 21 10 048 8 616 23 768 23 301
Provisions 16 – 2 415 – -
Deferred revenue  628 342 – -

total liabilities  12 769 12 014 23 768 23 301

total equity and liabilities  51 957 42 515 57 883 53 014
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statements of chanGes in eQuity
for the year ended 30 June 2015

    share 
     based
 share  share treasury payment retained total
 capital  premium  shares reserve earnings equity
 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

Group
Balance at 1 July 2013 348 11 871 (197) 1 070 11 137 24 229
Total comprehensive income  
for the year      
Profit for the year – – – – 5 919 5 919

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – – 5 919 5 919
Transactions with owners, recorded  
directly in equity    
Contributions by and  
distributions to owners      
Equity settled share based payment – – – 353 – 353
Transfer of reserve of share options  
that did not vest – – – (911) 911 –

Total contributions by and  
distributions to owners – – – (558) 911 353

Total transactions with owners – – – (558) 911 353

Balance at 30 June 2014 348 11 871 (197) 512 17 967 30 501
Total comprehensive income  
for the year      
Profit for the year – – – – 8 343 8 343

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – – 8 343 8 343
Transactions with owners, recorded  
directly in equity      
Contributions by and distributions  
to owners      
Equity settled share based payment – – – 344 – 344
Transfer of reserve of share options  
that did not vest – – – (394) 394 –

Total contributions by and  
distributions to owners – – – (50) 394 344

Total transactions with owners – – – (50) 394 344

Balance at 30 June 2015 348 11 871 (197) 462 26 704 39 188

46



statements of chanGes in eQuity
for the year ended 30 June 2015

   share 
    based 
 issued  share payment accumulated total
 capital  premium  reserve loss equity
 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

company     
Balance at 1 July 2013 348 67 445 1 070 (39 503) 29 360
Total comprehensive income  
for the year     
Loss for the year – – – – –
Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – –  – –
Transactions with owners,  
recorded directly in equity      
Contributions by and  
distributions to owners     
Equity settled share based payment – – 353 – 353
Transfer of reserve of share options  
that did not vest – – (911) 911 –

Total contributions by and  
distributions to owners – – (558) 911 353

Total transactions with owners – – (558) 911 353

Balance at 30 June 2014 348 67 445 512 (38 592) 29 713
Total comprehensive income  
for the year     
Profit for the year – – – 4 058 4 058

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – 4 058 4 058
Transactions with owners,  
recorded directly in equity     
Contributions by and  
distributions to owners     
Equity settled share based payment – – 344 – 344
Transfer of reserve of share  
options that did not vest – – (394) 394 –

Total contributions by and  
distributions to owners – – (50) 4 452 4 402

Total transactions with owners – – (50) 4 452 4 402

Balance at 30 June 2015 348 67 445 462 (34 140) 34 115
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statements of cash flow
for the year ended 30 June 2015

 Group company
  2015 2014 2015 2014
 notes r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

cash generated from operations 23.1 12 817 7 858 2 572 33
Interest received  468 167 228 1
Interest paid  (1) (27) (1) (25)
Dividend received  – – 3 858 –
Taxation paid 23.2 (1 362) (1 256) – –

net cash inflow from operating activities  11 922 6 742 6 657 9

cash flows from investing activities     
Equipment acquired to maintain operations  (476) (1 050) (192) –
Proceeds from sale of equipment  – 41 – –
Cash outflow with capitalisation  
of development costs  (1 166) (1 002) – –

net cash used in investing activities  (1 642) (2 011) (192) –

cash flows from financing activities     
Increase in loan from Silverbridge  
Software Solutions  – – 535 1 513
Decrease in loan from Ones & Zeros  – – (2 894) –
Increase in loan to Connect Software Services  – – (4 106) –

net cash (outflow) / inflow from  
financing activities  – – (6 465) 1 513

net increase in cash and cash equivalents  10 280 4 731 – 1 522
Cash and cash equivalents at the  
beginning of the year  7 934 3 203 74 (1 448)

cash and cash equivalents  
at the end of the year  18 214 7 934 74 74
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notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015

1.  reporting entity

SilverBridge Holdings Limited (Registration number: 1995/006315/06) is a company domiciled in the Republic of 
South Africa. The financial statements as at and for the year ended 30 June 2015 comprise the financial statements 
of the Company as well as the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the 
“Group” and individually as ”Group entities”). 

2.  Basis of preparation

2.1 Going concern

The directors have reviewed the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ budgets and cash flow forecasts for the year to 
30 June 2016. On the basis of this review, although the Company’s current liabilities exceed the current assets 
on 30 June 2015, the directors are satisfied that the Company and its subsidiaries will continue to operate for 
the foreseeable future and have adopted the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

2.2 statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Group and Company have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, the SAICA Financial 
Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting Pronouncements 
as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 16 September 2015.

2.3 Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.

2.4 functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in South African Rands, which is the Company’s functional currency. 
All financial information presented has been rounded to the nearest thousand (R’000) except when otherwise 
indicated.

2.5 use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgments, 
estimations and assumptions about the future events that affect the application of policies and reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

Future events and their effects cannot be determined with absolute certainty. The determination of estimates 
therefore requires the exercise of judgment based on various assumptions and other factors such as historical 
experience as well as current and anticipated economic conditions.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Historically, actual results have 
not deviated materially from those determined using the estimates described above. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.
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2.  Basis of preparation (continued)

2.5 use of estimates and judgements (continued)

2.5.1 Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has, apart from judgments 
involving estimations, made the following judgment, which has the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

2.5.1.1 cash generating unit to which goodwill is allocated for impairment testing

With regard to the annual impairment test performed on the goodwill that arose in the 
Group, SilverBridge Software Solutions was identified as the smallest cash generating unit 
within the Group that will generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows of other assets or groups of assets (see note 14.2).

2.5.2 estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
year-end that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

2.5.2.1 impairment of goodwill

The determination of whether goodwill is impaired is performed at least annually. This 
requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill 
is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the 
expected future cash flows from the cash generating unit and to choose a suitable discount 
rate to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The detailed estimations used 
to determine whether goodwill is impaired are set out in note 14: Intangible assets and 
goodwill.

2.5.2.2 deferred taxation assets

Deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable income 
will be available in the future against which the deferred taxation asset can be utilised. 
The future taxable profits are estimated based on business plans which include estimates 
and assumptions regarding the economic growth, interest, inflation, taxation rates and 
competitive forces. For further detail see note 17: Deferred tax assets and liabilities.

2.5.2.3 capitalisation and impairment of development costs

Development costs are capitalised to the extent that it is probable that future economic 
benefits will be generated from the developed assets. The probability and extent of future 
economic benefits are determined by management’s estimations of the market’s needs 
or internal usage of such an asset, estimations of the future benefits which will flow from 
selling the asset or using such asset internally, to result in cost savings. The detail on such 
development costs capitalised is presented in note 14: Intangible assets and goodwill.

2.5.2.4 equipment and intangible assets other than goodwill

The estimation of the useful lives of equipment is based on historic performance as well as 
expectations about future use and therefore requires a degree of judgment to be applied 
by management. These depreciation rates represent management’s current best estimate 
of the useful lives of the assets.

Residual values and useful lives of equipment are reviewed at least each reporting period. 
Adjustments to residual values will affect the depreciation charge for the reporting period.

notes to the financial statements
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2.  Basis of preparation (continued)

2.5 use of estimates and judgements (continued)

2.5.2 estimation uncertainty (continued)

2.5.2.5 provisions

A provisions is recognised to the extent the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. The probability and extent of the outflow of 
economic benefits are determined by management’s estimations on historical information 
for similar obligations and future expectations. The detail on such provisions are presented 
in note 16: Provisions.

2.6 offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

3. summary of significant accounting policies

The accounting policies have been applied consistently to all years presented in these consolidated financial 
statements and financial statements and have been applied consistently by Group entities. 

3.1 Basis of consolidation

3.1.1 Business combinations 

The Group financial statements comprise the financial statements of SilverBridge Holdings Limited, 
the legal holding company and its subsidiaries as at the end of the year of each year presented.

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is 
transferred to the Group (see 3.1.3). The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally 
measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested 
annually for impairment (see 3.5.2). Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity 
securities.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the 
contingent consideration is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted 
for in equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are 
recognised in profit of loss.

If share-based payment awards (replacement rewards) are required to be exchange for awards 
held by the acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s awards), then all or a portion of the amount of the 
acquirer’s replacement awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in the business 
combination. This determination is based on the market-based measure of the replacement awards 
compared with the market-based measure of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the 
replacement awards relate to pre-combination service.

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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3. summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.1 Basis of consolidation (continued)

3.1.2  non-controlling interests (nci)

NCI are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the acquisition 
date.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted 
for as equity transactions.

3.1.3  subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, 
or has rights to, variable returns for its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which 
control ceases.

3.1.4  loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, 
and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit 
or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

3.1.5 investments in subsidiary companies in the company financial statements

The investments in the subsidiary companies are measured at cost less impairment losses.

3.1.6 transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated. 

3.2 financial instruments

3.2.1  non-derivative financial assets

The Group has the following categories of non-derivative financial assets: loans and receivables. 

loans and receivables

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. 

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables, withholding tax rebate receivable and 
cash and cash equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short term deposits. 

Accounting for finance income and expenses is discussed in note 3.10.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in 
a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are 
transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability. 

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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3. summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.2 financial instruments (continued)

3.2.1  non-derivative financial assets (continued)

loans and receivables: withholding tax rebate receivable

The withholding tax rebate receivable represents the amounts due from foreign customers which 
have been reclassified from trade receivables as they are not expected to be settled within 12 months 
from the reporting date. This amount represents amounts withheld by foreign customers and paid 
to their local tax authority, but which nonetheless remain contractually due to SilverBridge by these 
foreign customers. Should SARS give SilverBridge a rebate against its SA Normal Tax in respect of this 
withholding tax, then SilverBridge would relieve the customer of its obligation or refund them, if 
already paid.

3.2.2  non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: trade and other payables and bank 
overdrafts.

The Group initially recognises its financial liabilities on the transaction date at which the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Such liabilities are recognised initially 
at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these 
financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or expire. 

Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management 
are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the statement of cash flows.

3.2.3 share capital

ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary 
shares and share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

repurchase of share capital (treasury shares)

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid which 
includes directly attributable costs, net of any tax effects is recognised as a deduction from equity. 
Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented as a deduction from total 
equity. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised 
as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is transferred to/from 
retained earnings.

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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3. summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.3 equipment

3.3.1 recognition and measurement

Items of equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased 
software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that 
equipment. 

When parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of plant and equipment.

3.3.2 subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if 
it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and 
its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs 
of the day-to-day servicing of equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

3.3.3 depreciation

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, less its residual 
value.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 
each part of an item of plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

Computer hardware  3 years
Computer software 2 years
Office equipment 6 years
Furniture and fittings 6 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Leasehold improvements 3 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate.

3.3.4 derecognition

An asset is removed from the statement of financial position on disposal or when it is withdrawn from 
use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Gains and losses on disposal of 
an item of plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the 
carrying amount of plant and equipment, and are recognised net within profit or loss when the item 
is derecognised.  

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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3. summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 intangible assets and goodwill

3.4.1 Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries. 

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

3.4.2 research and development

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical 
knowledge and understanding, is recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved 
products and processes. Development expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can be 
measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic 
benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development 
and to use or sell the asset. 

Development expenditure capitalised consists of Exergy software and complimentary tools to Exergy.

Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised 
but recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following 
initial recognition, intangible assets are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.

3.4.3 subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied 
in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally 
generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

3.4.4 amortisation

Amortisation is calculated over the cost of the asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its 
residual value.

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
intangible assets, other than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use. The estimated 
useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

Exergy software 10 years
Complimentary tools to Exergy software 3-7 years

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation 
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least 
at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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3. summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 intangible assets and goodwill (continued)

3.4.4 amortisation (continued)

Change in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as 
appropriate, and treated as a change in accounting estimate. The amortisation expense of intangible 
assets with a finite useful life is recognised in profit or loss in the expense category consistent with 
the nature of the intangible asset.

3.4.5  derecognition

An intangible asset is removed from the statement of financial position when it is withdrawn from 
use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. The gain or loss arising from the 
derecognition of an intangible asset shall be determined as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset. It will be recognised in profit or loss when the 
asset is derecognised.

3.5 impairment 

3.5.1 financial assets (including receivables)

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if 
objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, 
and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can 
be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, 
restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, 
and/or indications that a debtor will enter bankruptcy. 

The Group considers evidence of impairment for receivables at a specific asset level. All individual 
significant receivables are assessed for specific impairment. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the 
difference between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in 
an allowance account against receivables. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment 
loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

3.5.2 non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets and intangible assets not yet ready to use, 
other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is 
any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually irrespective of whether there is any indication 
of impairment.

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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3. summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.5 impairment  (continued)

3.5.2 non-financial assets (continued)

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its 
fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets 
are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing 
use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-
generating unit”, or “CGU”). The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose 
of impairment testing, is allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination.

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a 
corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which 
the corporate asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised 
in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a 
pro rata basis. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment 
losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the 
loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

3.6 employee benefits

3.6.1 defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as 
an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by 
employees. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a 
reduction in future payments is available. Contributions to a defined contribution plan that is due 
more than 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are 
discounted to their present value.

3.6.2 short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed 
as the related service is provided. 

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-
sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result 
of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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3. summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.6 employee benefits (continued)

3.6.3 share-based payment transactions

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as 
an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees 
unconditionally become entitled to the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to 
reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are 
expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number 
of awards that do meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting 
date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the 
share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences 
between expected and actual outcomes. 

3.7 provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The 
unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. 

A provision for warranties is recognised after the implementation and user acceptance testing process is 
complete for expected cost to be incurred by the Group for any defects that clients claim. The provision 
amount is calculated on estimates on the amount of time that will be needed to deal with such warranty issues 
based on the resources cost rate.

3.8 revenue 

The Company generates revenue by providing management services to subsidiary companies.

The Group generates revenue by providing its software systems developed in-house, to its clients. The systems 
remain under the ownership of the Group. The Group recovers licensing and/or rental fees from its clients, for 
the right of use of the system. The related service offering to the software system of the Group is:

i. Solution design, installation, configuration and customisation services

ii. Support and maintenance services of the respective system

iii. System enhancement services

Revenue is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised at 
the date on which services are rendered. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognised:

3.8.1 system rental and licensing fees 

System rental and licensing fees represent the fees charged for the right of use of the applicable 
software systems. Rental fee revenue is based on either the number of users of the software or a 
percentage of the client’s premium income and is recognised on a monthly basis on the date of 
invoice. License fee revenue is invoiced upfront to the client and recognised monthly over the period 
it applies to.

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015

58



3. summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.8 revenue (continued)

3.8.2 rendering of services

Revenue from the solution design, installation of software, configuration, customisation and 
enhancement changes to the software is recognised by reference to the stage of completion.

The stage of completion is measured by reference to the recoverable expenditure incurred to date as 
a percentage of the total expenditure expected to be incurred from each contract. Where the contract 
outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of the expenses 
recognised that are recoverable. As soon as losses on individual contracts become evident, they are 
provided for in full in profit or loss.

Revenue from fixed-price contracts is recognised on the percentage of completion method, after 
providing for contingencies and once the outcome of the contract can be assessed with reasonable 
certainty.

Revenue from variable price contracts is recognised on time and material allocated to the contract at 
the agreed price per unit after providing for contingencies and once the outcome of the contract can 
be assessed with reasonable certainty.

Revenue from support and maintenance services and management services is recognised as and when 
the service is delivered.

Prepaid support and maintenance services collected in advance are deferred and recognised based on 
actual usage of the service or upon expiration of the usage period, whichever comes first.

3.8.3 deferred revenue and revenue recognised not yet invoiced

Deferred revenue represents amounts received from clients in terms of the billing arrangements in the 
underlying agreement, for which services have not yet been rendered.

Revenue recognised not yet invoiced represents revenue recognised for services rendered, in 
accordance with the stage of completion method of revenue recognition, for which the client has not 
yet been billed, in terms of the billing arrangement in the underlying agreement.

3.9 lease payments

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 
as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its 
fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset 
is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised on the Group’s Statement of 
Financial Position. 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the 
term of the lease. 
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3. summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.10 finance income and costs

Finance income comprises interest income on bank balances, funds invested. Interest income is recognised as 
it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend income of the company is recognised 
as other income in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established, which, 
in the case of quoted securities, is the ex-dividend date. 

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings and unwinding of the discount on provisions. 

3.11 income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit 
or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or 
in other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous periods. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax 
is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, 
and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future and the parent or investor is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference. In addition, deferred tax is not recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on 
the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, 
and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax 
entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities 
will be realised simultaneously. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

3.12 earnings per share (eps)

The Group presents basic, headline, diluted and diluted headline earnings per share data for its ordinary 
shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to the equity holders of the parent by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

Headline EPS is determined by dividing the profit or loss attributable to equity holders adjusted for re-
measurements that are not closely aligned to the operating activities of the Group, by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to the equity holders of the parent and 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, for the effects of all potential dilutive ordinary 
shares. 

Diluted headline EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to the equity holders and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all potential diluted ordinary shares. 
The profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group is also adjusted for re-measurements that 
are not closely aligned to the operating activities of the Group.

notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015

60



3. summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.13 segment reporting

Business segments

A business segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing related 
products or services, which is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other segments. The 
Group is organised into five (2014: five) vertical business units, representing the main service offerings of the 
Group which delivers separate identifiable revenue streams. The results of these segments are reported to the 
Chief Operating Decision Maker on a regular basis.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can 
be allocated on a reasonable basis. 

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire plant and equipment, and 
intangible assets.

3.14 foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities 
at exchange rates at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. 
The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional 
currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the 
amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 
translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using 
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are 
recognised in profit or loss.

3.15 new accounting pronouncements

New standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective in the current year. A number of new standards, 
amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2015, and have 
not been applied in preparing these financial statements. 

standard/interpretation date issued by 
iasB 

effective date 
periods beginning  

on or after

IAS 16  
and IAS 38

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation May 2014 1 January 2016

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers May 2014 1 January 2018

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments July 2014 1 January 2018

IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial 
Statements August 2014 1 January 2016

IFRS 10  
and IAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture September 2014 1 January 2016

IFRS 10, IFRS  
12 and IAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying the 
Consolidation Exception December 2014 1 January 2016

IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative December 2014 1 January 2016
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3. summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.15 new accounting pronouncements (continued)

amendments to ias 16 and ias 38 - clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation 

The amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment explicitly state that revenue-based methods of 
depreciation cannot be used for property, plant and equipment.

The amendments to IAS 38 Intangible Assets introduce a rebuttable presumption that the use of revenue-
based amortisation methods for intangible assets are inappropriate. The presumption can be overcome only 
when revenue and the consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible asset are ‘highly correlated’, 
or when the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue.

The Group currently has no intangible assets and plants that are amortised or depreciated using a revenue-
based method and the amendments will have no impact on the financial reporting of the Group or the 
Company. 

ifrs 15 revenue from contracts with customers

This standard replaces IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, 
IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers and SIC-
31 Revenue – Barter of Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

The standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches to 
recognising revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model features a contract-based five-step analysis 
of transactions to determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognised. The Group is currently in 
the process of performing a more detailed assessment of the impact of this standard on the Group and will 
provide more information in the year ending 30 June 2016 financial statements.

ifrs 9 financial instruments

On 24 July 2014 the IASB issued the final IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Standard, which replaces earlier 
versions of IFRS 9 and completes the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement.

Even though these measurement categories are similar to IAS 39, the criteria for classification into these 
categories are significantly different. In addition, the IFRS 9 impairment model has been changed from an 
“incurred loss” model from IAS 39 to an “expected credit loss” model, which might increase the provision 
for bad debts recognised in the Group. The Group is currently in the process of performing a more detailed 
assessment of the impact of this standard on the Group and will provide more information in the year ending 
30 June 2016 financial statements.

ias 27 equity method in separate financial statements

The amendments to IAS 27 allow an entity to apply the equity method in its separate financial statements to 
account for its investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. The Group is currently in the process 
of performing a more detailed assessment of the impact of this standard on the Group and will provide more 
information in the year ending 30 June 2016 financial statements.

ifrs 10 and ias 28 sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or Joint Venture

The amendments require the full gain to be recognised when assets transferred between an investor and its 
associate or joint venture meet the definition of a ‘business’ under IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Where the 
assets transferred do not meet the definition of a business, a partial gain to the extent of unrelated investors’ 
interests in the associate or joint venture is recognised. The definition of a business is key to determining 
the extent of the gain to be recognised. These amendments will have no significant impact on the financial 
reporting of the Group or the Company.
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3. summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

3.15 new accounting pronouncements (continued)

ifrs 10, ifrs 12 and ias 28 investment entities: applying the consolidation exception

The amendment to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements clarifies which subsidiaries of an investment 
entity are consolidated instead of being measured at fair value through profit and loss. The amendment also 
modifies the condition in the general consolidation exemption that requires an entity’s parent or ultimate 
parent to prepare consolidated financial statements. The amendment clarifies that this condition is also met 
where the ultimate parent or any intermediary parent of a parent entity measures subsidiaries at fair value 
through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 10 and not only where the ultimate parent or intermediate 
parent consolidates its subsidiaries. These amendments will have no significant impact on the financial 
reporting of the Group or the Company.

The amendment to IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities requires an entity that prepares financial 
statements in which all its subsidiaries are measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with 
IFRS 10 to make disclosures required by IFRS 12 relating to investment entities. These amendments will have 
no significant impact on the financial reporting of the Group or the Company.

The amendment to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures modifies the conditions where an 
entity need not apply the equity method to its investments in associates or joint ventures to align these to the 
amended IFRS 10 conditions for not presenting consolidated financial statements. The amendments introduce 
relief when applying the equity method which permits a non-investment entity investor in an associate or joint 
venture that is an investment entity to retain the fair value through profit or loss measurement applied by the 
associate or joint venture to its subsidiaries. These amendments will have no significant impact on the financial 
reporting of the Group or the Company.

ias 1 disclosure initiative

The amendments provide additional guidance on the application of materiality and aggregation when 
preparing financial statements. The amendments also clarify presentation principles applicable to of the order 
of notes, other comprehensive income of equity accounted investees and subtotals presented in the statement 
of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. These amendments will 
have no significant impact on the financial reporting of the Group or the Company.

4. determination of fair values

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure 
purposes based on the methods described below. When applicable, further information about the assumptions 
made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 

4.1 equipment

The fair value of equipment recognised as a result of a business combination are based on market values. The fair 
value of items of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings is based on the market approach and cost approaches 
using quoted market prices for similar items when available and replacement cost when appropriate.

4.2 intangible assets

The fair value of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is based on the discounted cash flows 
expected to be derived from the use of the assets.
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4. determination of fair values (continued)

4.3 trade and other receivables

The fair value of trade and other receivables, excluding work in progress is estimated as the present value 
of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. The fair value of trade 
and other receivables is reflected after providing for doubtful debts based on the credit risk assessment of 
individual receivables. The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows in determining fair values is 
based on the current prime overdraft rate. This fair value is determined for disclosure purposes. 

4.4 non-derivative financial liabilities

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future 
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

4.5 share-based payment transactions

The fair value of the employee share options is measured using the Black-Scholes formula. Measurement 
inputs include share price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based 
on weighted average historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available information), 
weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historical experience and general option holder 
behaviour), expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). 

Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in 
determining fair value.

5. financial risk management

overview

The Group and Company have exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•	 Credit	risk

•	 Liquidity	risk

•	 Market	risk

•	 Operational	risk

This note presents information about the Group’s and Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s 
and Company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s and Company’s 
management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.

risk management framework

The Board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s and Company’s 
risk management framework. 

The Group’s and Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by 
the Group and Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. 
Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the 
Group’s and Company’s activities. The Group and Company, through its training and management standards and 
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand 
their roles and obligations.
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5. financial risk management (continued)

risk management framework (continued)

The Group’s Audit, Risk and IT Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s and 
Company’s risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework 
in relation to the risks faced by the Group and Company. 

credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group and Company if a client or counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s and Company’s receivables from 
clients.

trade and other receivables

The Group’s and Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
client. The demographics of the Group’s and Company’s client base, including the default risk of the industry and 
country in which clients operate, has less of an influence on credit risk. 

Goods are sold subject to retention of title clauses, so that in the event of non-payment the Group or Company may 
have a secured claim. The Group and Company does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables.

The Group and Company establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in 
respect of trade and other receivables. This allowance relates to individually significant exposures.

liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Group’s and Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risk of damaging the Group’s or Company’s reputation.

The Group and Company monitors its exposure to liquidity risk using projected cash flows from operations. The 
Group and Company ensures that the timing of payments to creditors and receipt of collections from clients and 
maturity of short-term deposits is matched as far as possible. The Group also have a R2.5 million (2014: R2.5 million) 
revolving overdraft facility available for instances where cash flows come under pressure. 

market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the 
Group’s and Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 
return.

currency risk

The Group and Company is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency 
other than the functional currency of the Company or subsidiary. The Group did not invoice any clients during the 
financial year in a currency other than the functional currency (2014: None). Limited foreign purchases are also 
made. Due to the insignificance of such transactions, the Group and Company does not hedge any of its foreign 
currency exposures. The Group and Company also do not trade in financial markets and accordingly, there is no 
material exposure to currency risk.
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5. financial risk management (continued)

interest rate risk

The Group and Company have limited exposure to interest rate risk through interest being received on bank balances 
and interest payable on borrowings. The interest being received on bank balances is based on the variable interest 
rates granted by financial institutions. These rates are linked to the repo rate of South Africa. Interest charged 
on borrowings is set out in the terms and conditions of the agreements beforehand which is linked to the prime 
interest rate plus a certain agreed upon factor. This does not impose a significant risk to the Group and Company.

operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Group’s 
and Company’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, 
market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted 
standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Group’s and Company’s operations. 

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to 
the Group’s and Company’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict 
initiative and creativity. 

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is 
assigned to the executive committee of the business. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall 
Group and Company standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas: 

•	 Requirements	for	appropriate	segregation	of	duties,	including	the	independent	authorisation	of	transactions

•	 Requirements	for	the	reconciliation	and	monitoring	of	transactions

•	 Compliance	with	regulatory	and	other	legal	requirements

•	 Documentation	of	controls	and	procedures

•	 Requirements	 for	 the	 periodic	 assessment	 of	 operational	 risks	 faced,	 and	 the	 adequacy	 of	 controls	 and	
procedures to address the risks identified

•	 Requirements	for	the	reporting	of	operational	losses	and	proposed	remedial	action

•	 Development	of	contingency	plans

•	 Training	and	professional	development

•	 Ethical	and	business	standards

•	 Risk	mitigation,	including	insurance	where	this	is	effective

capital management

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business. The Board monitors the return on capital, which the Group and 
Company defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders equity. The Board also monitors the level of 
distributions to ordinary shareholders and earnings per share.

The primary objective of the Group’s and Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong 
credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.
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5. financial risk management (continued)

capital management (continued)

The Group and Company manage its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group and Company may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies 
and processes during the years ended 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014. The Group’s and Company’s policy is to 
obtain necessary capital through share capital or the generation of cash from operations. 

The Group’s expected cost of capital was determined as 18% and the Group’s expected return of projects differs 
between 20% and 25% depending on the risk of the project. 

6. segment reporting

Group

Business segments

The Group has five reportable business segments (2014: five), as described below, which are the Group’s strategic 
business units. The strategic business units offer different products and services and focus on different industries. 
For management purposes the Group is currently organised into four vertical business units, representing the main 
service offerings of the Group as follows:

i. Implementation services – implementation of client-specific solutions;

ii. Support services – support offered as client-specific solution. Support services is split between:

•	 Connect	support	and

•	 SilverBridge	support

iii. Software rental fees and other license fees received for right of use of the system; and

iv. Research and development – develop and maintain the generic client solutions.

The basis on which costs have been allocated to the business segments has been reviewed for both the current and 
prior year. The changes made provide a more accurate view of the performance of the segments, as well as a more 
accurate comparison from year to year.

Previously costs of unutilised capacity were shown under indirect costs. These costs are now allocated, as direct 
costs, to the specific business unit to which the relevant staff member is allocated. The comparative figures have 
been restated to reflect the same.

Previously indirect costs were allocated to the segments in the same ratio as which direct costs were allocated. These 
costs are now allocated on a consumption basis which is consistent to the way the business segments are budgeted 
and reported on from month to month. The comparative figures have been restated to reflect the same.

The Group controls and manages all assets and liabilities on a central basis and recovers these costs as well as 
corporate overheads through a recovery model based on income generation. Segment results include only cost 
items directly attributable to a segment. Unallocated items comprise mainly centrally controlled assets and liabilities, 
income-earning assets and revenue, expenses and corporate assets and expenses.
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6. segment reporting (continued)

6.1 Business segments

     silverBridge 
 connect  connect silverBridge silverBridge software 
 implementation support  support research & rental &  
 services services services development maintenance  total 
 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

2015
Segment revenue 19 678 26 067 4 774 – 33 494 84 013
Segment revenue  
inter-group – (50) (2 969) – (51) (3 070)

segment revenue  
external 19 678 26 017 1 805 – 33 443 80 943
Direct segment cost (9 862) (14 004) (1 740) (5 663) (8 007) (39 276)
Cost capitalised – – – 1 167 – 1 167

segment gross profit 9 816 12 013 65 (4 496) 25 436 42 834
Indirect segment cost (8 934) (11 772) (1 370) (4 444) (5 302) (31 822)

segment result 882 241 (1 305) (8 940) 20 134 11 012
Net finance income      467
Income tax      (3 136)

profit for the year      8 343

     silverBridge 
 connect  connect silverBridge silverBridge software 
 implementation support  support research & rental &  
 services services services development maintenance  total 
 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

2014
Segment revenue 20 683 24 707 9 312 – 37 137 91 839
Segment revenue  
inter-group – – (7 995) – – (7 995)

segment revenue  
external 20 683 24 707 1 317 – 37 137 83 844
Direct segment cost (14 031) (12 902) (977) (6 380) (9 175) (43 465)
Cost capitalised – – – 1 002 – 1 002

segment gross profit 6 652 11 805 340 (5 378) 27 962 41 381
Indirect segment cost (9 067) (12 187) (1 413) (4 653) (5 764) (33 084)

segment result (2 415) (383) (1 074) (10 031) 22 198 8 295
Net finance income      140
Income tax      (2 516)

profit for the year      5 919
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6. segment reporting (continued)

6.2 revenue per geographical area

All segments are managed locally in South Africa. In presenting information on the basis of geographical 
location, segment revenue is based on the geographical location of the clients.

 Group
 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000

South Africa 36 153 50 938
Other African countries* 44 790 32 906

 80 943 83 844

*  Other African countries include Angola, Botswana, Kenya, Malawi, Mauritius, Nigeria, Ghana, Namibia, 
Lesotho, Swaziland and Zimbabwe.

6.3 major clients

Revenue, included in the Implementation-, Connect Support- and the Software Rental and Maintenance 
segment, from the two major clients of the Group represents approximately R18.124 million (2014: three 
major clients represented R42.808 million) of the Group’s total revenue. Major clients is defined as clients from 
which the Group generates 10 percent or more of its revenues from each of these clients. 

7.  revenue

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Revenue comprises:    
Implementation services rendered 19 678 20 683 – –
Support services rendered 27 771 26 023 – –
Software rental and license fees 33 494 37 138 – –
Management fees* – – 7 579 475

 80 943 83 844 7 579 475

*  Due to operational changes to the group structure shared services were moved to the Holdings company 
resulting in a substantial increase in management fees charged to subsidiaries for these services rendered.

8. other income and expenses

8.1  other income

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Other operating income* 15 400 3 858 –
Profit with sale of asset – 30 – –

 15 430 3 858 –

* Other operating income includes amounts received from the ISSET SETA for training grants as well as 
profits on sale of assets realised. Other operating income for the company also consists of dividends 
received from a subsidiary.
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8. other income and expenses

8.2  personnel expenses

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Salaries (45 200) (49 401) (2 182)  –
Equity-settled share based  
payment transactions (See note 28) (175) (353) (11) –
Contributions to the pension  
fund (See note 25) (3 420) (3 328) (211) –
Key management personnel  
and directors (6 366) (4 648) (1 212) –

 (55 161) (57 730) (3 616) –

8.3  depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation (709) (635) (8) –
Amortisation (990) (1 563) – –

 (1 699) (2 198) (8) –

8.4  professional fees paid for services

Fees paid to external auditors (710) (578) – (207)
Fees paid to internal auditors (300) (340) (100) –
Professional services* (2 629) (1 527) (1 003) (157)
Recruitment and human  
resource services (283) (841) (95) –
Legal fees (127) (439) – –
Secretarial services (197) (167) (61) –

 (4 246) (3 892) (1 259) (364)

* Professional fees include services being rendered by external consultants and advisors.
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8. other income and expenses

8.5  other expenses

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Operating lease charges – buildings (1 404) (1 337) (476) –
Marketing and advertising expenditure (595) (701) (106) –
Training and subscriptions expenditure (708) (384) (54) –
Insurance expenditure (785) (626) (229) –
Social responsibility expenditure (432) (439) (160) –
Administration expenditure (110) (145) (78) (86)
Travel expenditure (1 045) (1 158) (113) –

Travel expenditure incurred (2 317) (2 698) (120) –
Travel expenditure reimbursed 1 272 1 540 7 –

General staff expenses (994) (609) (324) –
Communications and computer  
maintenance expenditure (2 863) (3 080) (657) –
Other operating expenditure (1 119) (1 007) (435) (2)
Warranty provision utilised/(raised) 2 420 (2 415) – –
Provision for credit notes  (245) – 
Foreign exchange difference (27) (13) (23) –
Loss on disposal of assets (19) – – –
Bad debts (1 159) – (20) –
Management fees paid – – (354) –

 (8 840) (12 159) (3 029) (88)

8.6  research costs

Research expenditure included in  
personnel expenses and  
other expenses above (4 496) (5 378) – –
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9.  finance income

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Interest income on bank deposits 468 146 228 1
Net interest refund from SARS – 21 – –

 468 167 228 1

10.  finance expense

Interest paid (1) (27) (1) (25)

11.  taxation

11.1 current tax expense

South African normal taxation (2 536) (2 969) – –

– Current year (2 536) (2 969) – –

Deferred tax (600) 453 306 –

– Relating to origination and reversal  
of temporary differences (600) 453 306 –

 (3 136) (2 516) 306 –

11.2  reconciliation of effective rate of taxation

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 % % % %

South African normal tax rate 28.00 28.00 28.00 –
Adjusted for:    
– Non-deductible expenses 2.00 1.94 0.72 –
– Non-taxable income (1.02) (0.11) (31.79) 
– Utilisation of previously  
unrecognised deferred tax asset (1.66) – (5.09) –

effective tax rate 27.32 29.83 (8.16) –
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12.  earnings per share

12.1 Basic earnings per ordinary share

Basic earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the parent, of R8.3 million (2014: R5.9 million) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year of 34.7 million (2014: 34.7 million).

 Group
 2015 2014

Reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares in issue  
Shares in issue (‘000) 34 781 34 781
Effect of treasury shares acquired on 1 March 2007 (‘000) (106) (106)
Weighted average number of shares in issue  
at the end of the year (‘000) 34 675 34 675
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (R’000) 8 343 5 919

Basic earnings per share (cents) 24.06 17.07

12.2 headline earnings per ordinary share

Headline earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the headline earnings attributable to ordinary 
equity holders of the parent of R8.3 million (2014: R5.9 million) by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the year of 34.7 million (2014: 34.7 million).

 Group
  2015 2014
 number of  Number of 
 shares shares
 ‘000 ‘000

Weighted average number of shares in issue 34 675 34 675

 2015 2014
 Gross Net Gross Net

 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Reconciliation between basic  
earnings and headline earnings
Basic earnings  8 343  5 919
Adjusted for:    
– (Profit)/loss on disposal of equipment 19 14 (30) (22)

Headline earnings  8 357  5 897

headline earnings per share (cents)  24.10  17.01
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notes to the financial statements
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12.  earnings per share

12.3 diluted earnings per ordinary share

Diluted earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the diluted profit attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the parent of R8.3 million (2014: R5.9 million) by the diluted average number of ordinary shares of 
35.2 million (2014: 34.7 million). 

 Group
  2015 2014
 number of  Number of 
 shares shares
 ‘000 ‘000

Reconciliation between weighted average number of  
shares in issue and weighted average number of shares in  
issue used for diluted earnings per share  
Weighted average number of shares in issue 34 675 34 675
Adjusted for
Diluted amount of shares 577 –

Weighted average number of shares in issue used  
for diluted earnings per share 35 252 34 675

 Group
 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000

Basic earnings used for diluted earnings 8 343 5 919

diluted earnings per share (cents) 23.67 17.07

The diluted effect is due to share options in issue.

12.4 diluted headline earnings per ordinary share

Diluted headline earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the diluted headline earnings attributable 
to ordinary equity holders of the parent of R8.3 million (2014: R5.9 million) by the diluted weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year of R35.2 million (2014: 34.7 million).

 Group
  2015 2014

Weighted average number of shares in issue  
used for diluted earnings per share (‘000) 35 252 34 675
Headline earnings (R‘000) 8 357 5 897

diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 23.71 17.01

The diluted effect is due to share options in issue.
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13. equipment

equipment summary of movements during the year per category of asset

      lease 
    furniture  hold
 computer  computer office and motor improve- 
 hardware software equipment fittings vehicles ments total 
 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

Group       
cost       
Balance at 1 July 2013 6 753 2 411 813 625 184 690 11 476
Additions 637 178 – 235 – – 1 050
Disposals (40) – – – – – (40)

Balance at 30 June 2014 7 350 2 589 813 860 184 690 12 486

Additions 341 48 28 45 – 14 476
Disposals (30) – – – – – (30)

Balance at 30 June 2015 7 661 2 637 841 905 184 704 12 932

accumulated depreciation,  
impairment and losses 
Balance at 1 July 2013 6 397 2 310 708 504 92 624 10 635
Depreciation for the year 337 142 32 57 37 30 635
Disposals (28) – – – – – (28)

Balance at 30 June 2014 6 706 2 452 740 561 129 654 11 242

Depreciation for the year 393 151 28 76 37 24 709
Disposals (11) – – – – – (11)

Balance at 30 June 2015 7 088 2 603 768 637 166 678 11 940

carrying amounts       
At 1 July 2013 356 101 105 121 92 66 841
At 30 June 2014 644 137 73 299 55 36 1 244

at 30 June 2015 573 34 73 268 18 26 992
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13. equipment (continued)

equipment summary of movements during the year per category of asset

    lease 
    hold 
 computer  office furniture improve- 
 hardware equipment and fittings ments total 
 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 

company     
cost     

Balance at 1 July 2013 – – – – –

Additions – – – – –
Disposals – – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2014 – – – – –

Additions 71 33 75 13 192
Disposals – – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2015 71 33 75 13 192

accumulated depreciation,  
impairment and losses    
Balance at 1 July 2013 – – – – –
Depreciation for the year – – – – –
Disposals – – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2014 – – – – –

Depreciation for the year 4 2 2 – 8
Disposals – – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2015 4 2 2 – 8

carrying amounts     
At 1 July 2013 – – – – –
At 30 June 2014 – – – – –

at 30 June 2015 67 31 73 13 184
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14.  intangible assets and goodwill (continued)

14.1 intangible assets and goodwill summary of movements during the year per category of asset

   exergy
  software and  
  complimentary  
 Goodwill tools  total
 r’000 r’000 r’000

Group   
cost   

Balance at 1 July 2013 30 794 10 462 41 256

Development costs capitalised  – 1 003 1 003

Balance at 30 June 2014 30 794 11 465 42 259

Development costs capitalised  – 1 166 1 166

Balance at 30 June 2015 30 794 12 631 43 425

accumulated amortisation and impairment   
Balance at 1 July 2013 22 617 6 969 29 586
Amortisation for the year – 1 563 1 563

Balance at 30 June 2014 22 617 8 532 31 149

Amortisation for the year – 990 990

Balance at 30 June 2015 22 617 9 522 32 139

carrying amount
At 1 July 2013 8 177 3 493 11 670

At 30 June 2014 8 177 2 933 11 110

at 30 June 2015 8 177 3 109 11 286

14.2 impairment testing of goodwill 

Goodwill of R8.177 million recognised by the Group through the reverse acquisition of SilverBridge which 
occurred in 2006 has been allocated to SilverBridge Software Solutions, being the smallest cash generating 
unit which will benefit from the acquisition. The recoverable amount of the goodwill has been determined 
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on the financial budget approved by 
the Company’s Board of directors, for the next financial year. These cash flows were grown for four additional 
years using a 10% growth rate. The cash flows were extrapolated beyond the four year period by using a 
terminal rate of 2%. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 25% (2014: 25%).
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14.  intangible assets and goodwill (continued)

14.2 impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

14.2.1 Key assumptions used in the value in use calculation for goodwill

The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow 
projections to undertake the impairment testing of goodwill:

i. Budgeted net profits – The budgeted net profit as approved by the Board of directors, was 
adjusted for non-cash flow items for the 2016 financial year. The profits were then increased for 
expected efficiency improvements for the future years.

ii. Pre-tax discount rate – The weighted average cost of capital of the Group has been taken into 
account.

14.2. 2 sensitivity to changes in assumptions

With regard to the assessment of value in use in SilverBridge Software Solutions, management believes 
that there is no foreseeable possible change in any of the above key assumptions which would cause 
the carrying value of the unit to materially exceed its recoverable amount.

Growth rate assumptions: Management recognises that the speed of technological change and the 
possibility of new entrants can have a significant impact on growth rate assumptions. The effect of 
new entrants is not expected to impact adversely on forecasts included in the budget.

14.3 intangible assets with a finite useful life

14.3.1  exergy software

The Group’s main software product, Exergy, has been developed internally. The Group currently 
amortises the Exergy software over a period of ten years on a straight line basis. Management has 
reviewed the estimated useful life of Exergy and believes it still to be reasonable.

14.3.2  complementary product offering to the exergy software

The Group has developed software products internally, that are complementary to the Exergy system 
offering and which are still under development. The Group currently amortises the complementary 
Exergy products over a range of three to seven years, based on the nature of each of the individual 
products. Management has reviewed the useful lives of the products and believes these to be 
reasonable. 

14.3.3  software tools

Software tools represent a combination of tools developed in-house, that automate programming 
and development functions, which result in time and cost savings. The tools are utilised in connection 
with the Exergy software, and are amortised over the remaining useful life of Exergy, on a straight line 
basis. Management has reviewed the useful lives of the products and believes these to be reasonable.
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15.  investments in subsidiaries

15.1  unlisted investments

 Group
 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000

at cost  
Shares in SilverBridge Software Solutions 50 970 50 970
Shares in Ones & Zeros 14 815 14 815
Dividend received from Ones & Zeros pre-acquisition reserve (1 402) (1 402)
Impairment of investment in Ones & Zeros (13 413) (13 413)
Contribution to subsidiaries relating to share options granted 2 219 1 954

 53 189 52 924

An investment in Connect of R100 (2014: R100) existed at year end.

15.2  shares in silverBridge software solutions

See note 26: Related parties, for details regarding the investment. SilverBridge Software Solutions is 
incorporated in the Republic of South Africa. The Company owns 100% (2014: 100%) of the equity interest in 
SilverBridge Software Solutions.

15.3  shares in ones & Zeros

See note 26: Related parties, for details regarding the investment in Ones & Zeros. Ones & Zeros is incorporated 
in the Republic of South Africa. The Company owns 100% (2014: 100%) of the equity interest in Ones & Zeros.

15.4  shares in connect

See note 26: Related parties, for details regarding the investment in Connect. Connect is incorporated in the 
Republic of South Africa. The Company owns 100% (2014: 100%) of the equity interest in Connect.

16. provisions

warranties

The provision for warranties relates to cost that is expected to be incurred by the Group for any defects that clients 
claim after the implementation and user acceptance testing process is complete. The provision is based on estimates 
on the amount of time that will be needed to deal with such warranty issues, calculation based on resources cost 
rate. The provision raised in 2014 was utilised in the current financial year.

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Balance at the beginning  
of the period 2 416 – – –
Provision (utilised)/raised  
during the period (2 416) 2 416 – –

Balance at the end of the period – 2 416 – –
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17.  deferred tax assets and (liabilities)

17.1  composition of deferred tax

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

deferred tax assets    
Estimated tax losses* – 901 – –
Leave accrual 685 705 143 –
Incentive accrual 891 835 170 –
Warranty and credit note provision – 745 – –
Deferred revenue 176 677 – –

 1 752 3 863 313 –

deferred tax liability    
Capitalisation of intangible assets (707) (681) – –
Revenue recognised not yet invoiced (751) (1 788) – –
Contract expenses (150) (650) – –
Pre-payments (10) (12) (7) –

 (1 618) (3 131) (7) –

net deferred tax asset 441 764 306 –

net deferred tax liability (308) (30) – –

* Estimated tax losses represent the expected tax loss for the year, not yet assessed.

17.2  reconciliation of movements on deferred tax assets

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 734 280 – –
Temporary differences  
recognised through profit or loss (601) 454 306 –

Balance at the end of the year 133 734 306 –
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18.  trade and other receivables

18.1 composition

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

financial assets - loans  
and receivables    
Trade receivables 14 193 12 110 24 16
Less: Provision for credit notes – (245) – –
Net trade receivables 14 193  11 865 24 16
Other receivables 39 42 – –
Other related party payables – – 4 106 –

 14 232 11 907 4 130 16

non-financial assets - loans  
and receivables    
VAT receivable 550 – – –

total trade and other receivables 14 782 11 907 4 130 16

18.2  terms and conditions

For terms and conditions relating to related party receivables, see note 26: Related parties.

Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing and have a normal payment term of 30 days. The impact 
of the time value of money between collection date and invoice date was taken into account in determining 
the fair value of trade and other receivables.

See note 27 for risk disclosures concerning financial instruments.

19.  cash and cash equivalents

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Cash at bank and in hand 18 214 7 934 74 74
Bank overdraft – – – –

Balance at the end of the year 18 214 7 934 74 74

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily interest rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying 
periods of between one month and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, 
and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. No short term deposits were held at the year-end.

A revolving overdraft facility of R2.5 million is available from a financial institution. Interest is payable on the 
amount being utilised at prime plus 1.5%. The debtors of SilverBridge are ceded to the financial institution.  
This overdraft facility is reviewed annually by the financial institution.
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20. capital and reserves 

20.1 share capital

20.1.1  authorised

The authorised share capital consists of 200 000 000 (2014: 200 000 000) ordinary shares of par value 
1 cent (2014: 1 cent) each. There were no movements in the authorised share capital in the current 
or previous financial year.

20.1.2  issued and fully paid

The issued and fully paid share capital of the Company is R347 815 (2014: R347 815). There were no 
movements in the current or prior financial year. 

20.1.3  reconciliation of number of shares in issue

At the end of the financial year 34.8 million (2014: 34.8 million) shares were in issue. There were no 
movements in the number of shares in issue in the current or previous financial year. 

20.1.4  directors powers over share capital

The directors are authorised, by resolution of the shareholders, until the next annual general meeting 
of the Company, to issue and dispose, limited to a maximum 12 million shares of the authorised but 
un-issued shares of the Company, subject to the requirements of the Companies Act and the rules 
and regulations of the JSE Listings Requirements, to allot and/or issue shares to such persons on such 
terms and conditions as they may determine.

20.1.5  rights of ordinary shareholders

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are 
entitled to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings of the Company. All shares rank pari passu 
and equally with regard to the Company’s residual value of the shares. 

20.1.6  share premium

At the end of the financial year the share premium of the Group amounted to R11.9 million (2014: 
R11.9 million) and the Company R67.4 million (2014: R67.4 million). There were no movements in the 
current or prior financial year.

20.2 share based payment reserve

The share based payment reserve comprises the cumulative amount that was recognised in profit or loss as an 
employment expense over the vesting period with the corresponding amount credited to this reserve, which 
forms part of the Company’s equity. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number 
of awards expected to vest.

The equity-settled share-based payment reserve is analysed as follows:

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 512 1 070 512 1 070
Share based payment expensed 344 353 344 353
Reversal from reserve to retained  
earnings with respect to share  
options being forfeited (394) (911) (394) (911)

Balance at the end of the year 462 512 462 512
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21. trade and other payables

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

financial liabilities    
Trade payables 671 875 416 68
Other payables (accruals) 2 681 1 783 496 –
Other related party payables – – 20 873 23 232

 3 352 2 658 21 785 23 300

non-financial liabilities    
VAT payable 1 069 458 865 1
Incentive accrual 3 182 2 984 606 –
Leave accrual 2 445 2 516 512 –

 6 696 5 958 1 983 1

total trade and other payables 10 048 8 616 23 768 23 301

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms. Other payables are non-interest 
bearing and have an average term of 30 days.

For terms and conditions relating to related party receivables, see note 26: Related parties.

22.  withholding tax rebates receivable

22.1 movements on withholding tax rebates receivable

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Balance at the beginning of the period 2 921 2 017 – –
Additional rebates received 637 904 – –

Balance at the end of the period 3 558 2 921 – –

22.2 Split between non-current and  
current portion of withholding  
tax rebates receivable

Non-current 2 047 1 968 – –
Current 1 511 953 – –

Balance at the end of the period 3 558 2 921 – –
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23. notes to the cash flow statement

23.1 cash generated from operating activities

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Profit before taxation 11 479 8 435 3 752 –
Adjusted for:    
– Depreciation 709 635 8 –
– Amortisation 990 1 563 – –
– Share based payment expense 344 353 80 –
– Bad debts 1 159 – 20 –
– (Profit)/ loss on disposal of equipment 19 (30) – –
– Change in withholding tax rebate (637) (904) – –
– Interest income (468) (167) (228) (1)
– Dividend received – – (3 858) –
– Finance costs paid 1 27 1 25

 13 596 9 912 (225) 24

Net working capital movements: (779) (2 054) 2 797 9

– (Increase) / decrease in trade  
   and other receivables (4 033) 401 (28) (16)
– Increase in trade and other payables 1 433 1 805 2 825 26
– Change in revenue recognised  
   not yet invoiced 3 951 (5 338) – –
– Change in deferred revenue 285 (1 337) – –
– Change in provisions (2 415) 2 415 – –

cash generated from operations 12 817 7 858 2 572 33

23.2 reconciliation of taxation paid   

Taxation (payable) / receivable  
at beginning of year (611) 1 102 – –
Recognised in profit or loss (2 536) (2 969) – –
Taxation payable at end of year 1 785 611 – –

net taxation paid (1 362) (1 256) – –
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24. commitments and contingencies

24.1 operating lease commitments

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Group as lessee    
future minimum lease payments  
under non-cancellable  
operating lease:    
Not later than 1 year 1 153 1 153 1 153 –
Later than 1 year and not  
later than 5 years 384 1 537 384 –

total operating lease  
commitments 1 537 2 690 1 537 –

24.2 capital commitments

Authorised but not contracted for 1 378 1 673 1 378 –

No contracted capital commitments exist at the year-end. Although an IT budget exists for the Group whereby 
new computers will be acquired, no agreements have been entered into for these.

25. defined contribution plans

The Group operates a retirement contribution plan that is governed by the Pension Funds Act (Act No 24 of 1956). 
The plans cover all qualifying employees. 

The only obligation of the Group to the retirement contribution plan is to deduct employee contributions  
monthly and to pay these over to the administrators. The Group’s total contribution to the fund amounted to  
R3 419 840 (2014: R3 328 175) which represents contributions payable to the schemes by the Group based on the 
rates specified in the rules of the scheme. 
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26. related parties

26.1 Group subsidiaries

 nature of country of  % equity  
 business incorporation  interest 

2015

The following Group companies  
are included within the  
Group financial statements:

Subsidiaries 
(based on the legal Group structure)

SilverBridge Software Solutions IT software RSA 100

Connect Software Services Implementation  RSA 100 
 and support

Ones & Zeros  Dormant RSA 100

SilverBridge Employee Share Trust Trust RSA 100

 nature of country of  % equity   
 business incorporation  interest 

2014

The following Group companies  
are included within the  
Group financial statements:

Subsidiaries 
(based on the legal Group structure)
SilverBridge Software Solutions IT software RSA 100

Connect Software Services Implementation  RSA 100 
 and support

Ones & Zeros  Dormant RSA 100

SilverBridge Employee Share Trust Trust RSA 100

26.2 entities with significant influence over the Group

Significant influence represents the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an 
investee but does not constitute control nor joint control over those policies. 

i. Jaco Swanepoel Trust holds 21.48% of the ordinary shares in the Group (2014: 21.48%).

ii. CShell 448 Proprietary Limited (Cshell), controlled by Kagisio Tiso Holdings Proprietary Limited, holds 
33.12% of the ordinary shares in the Group (2014: 33.12%), and has 2 directors on the Board of  
8 directors, representing an interest of 25% (2014: 28,6%). 
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26. related parties (continued)

26.3  significant related party transactions

Related party relationships exist between shareholders and subsidiaries within the Group as well as Group key 
management personnel who are defined as the directors of the Group and Company.

The transactions are concluded in the normal course of business. All intra-group transactions are eliminated 
on consolidation.

The related party transactions are summarised as follows:

The following table provides a summary of the total amounts of transactions entered into with related parties 
for the relevant financial year and the corresponding amounts owing or payable to the Company.

   revenue amounts amounts 
 other  from owed owed 
 expenses related to related to related 
 paid to party  parties parties 
 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 

2015    
Subsidiary companies (based on  
the legal group structure)    
silverBridge software solutions (354) 4 564  
- Inter-group loans with subsidiary   (20 873) –
connect software services – 3 015  
- Inter-group loans with subsidiary   – 4 106

 (354) 7 579 (20 873) 4 106

   revenue amounts amounts 
 other  from owed owed 
 expenses related to related to related 
 paid to party  parties parties 
 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

2014    
Subsidiary companies (based on  
the legal group structure)    
silverBridge software solutions – 475  
- Inter-group loans with subsidiary   (20 338) 16
ones & Zeros – –  
- Inter-group loans with subsidiaries   (2 894) –

 – 475 (23 232) 16

26.4 terms and conditions with related parties

Related party payables and receivables have normal repayment terms of 30 days from invoice. Outstanding 
balances at the year end are unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There have been no 
guarantees provided or received for any related party receivable or payables. The Group has not suffered any 
impairment losses relating to any amounts owed by related parties (2014: nil). This assessment is undertaken 
each financial year by examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related 
party operates.
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26. related parties (continued)

26.5 Key management personnel compensation

Executive directors are entitled to a monthly salary. Executive directors can also participate in the share option 
programme on invitation (see note 28). The executive directors of SilverBridge are involved in the Company on 
a day-to-day basis and have entered into service contracts exceeding three years. 

Non-executive directors are not involved in the day-to-day business of the Company; neither are they full-time, 
salaried employees of the Company, or its subsidiaries. The non-executive directors enjoy no benefits from the 
Group for their service (as directors), other than their monthly directors fees and potential capital gains and 
dividends gained from interests in ordinary shares. None of the non-executive directors participates in the 
share incentive scheme. The non-executive directors have unhindered access to management. 

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Summary of key management  
personnel compensation
Short-term employee benefits    
Directors    
Non-executive directors 918 737 326 –
Executive directors 5 448 3 911 886 –

total compensation paid to directors  6 366 4 648 1 212 –

26.5.1 remuneration paid by

The holding company 
(SilverBridge Holdings) 1 212 – 1 212 –
The legal subsidiary company  
(SilverBridge Software Solutions) 3 076 2 744 – –
The legal subsidiary company  
(Connect Software Services) 2 078 1 904 – –

 6 366 4 648 1 212 –
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26. related parties (continued)

26.5 Key management personnel compensation (continued)

26.5.2 Group directors’ fees

    contri- 
   butions to 
   defined   
  fees contri- fees for share 
 Basic as bution  other options 
 salary director plan services expense incentives total
 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

2015
Executive directors  
of SilverBridge

– J Swanepoel  1 777 – 179 – 70 138 2 164
– L Kuyper  1 703 – 171 – 71 133 2 078
– S Blyth 684 – 96 – 28 398 1 206

total executive  
directors fees 4 164 – 446 – 169 669 5 448

Non-executive  
directors of  
SilverBridge       

– R Emslie – 359 – – – – 359
– J de Villiers – 304 – – – – 304
– J Chikaonda* – 70 – – – – 70
– H Govind** – 70 – – – – 70
– T Murray*** – 115 – – – – 115

total non-executive  
directors fees – 918 – – – – 918

total Group  
directors’  
fees paid 4 164 918  446 – 169 669 6 366
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26. related parties (continued)

26.5 Key management personnel compensation (continued)

26.5.2 Group directors’ fees (continued)

    contri- 
   butions to 
   defined   
  fees contri- fees for share 
 Basic as bution  other options 
 salary director plan services expense incentives total
 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

2014
Executive directors  
of SilverBridge

– J Swanepoel  1 649 – 167 – 31 160 2 007
– L Kuyper  1 529 – 154 – 68 153 1 904

total executive  
directors fees 3 178 – 321 – 99 313 3 911

Non-executive  
directors of  
SilverBridge       

– R Emslie – 288 – – – – 288
– J de Villiers – 259 – – – – 259
– L Gcwabe* – 39 – – – – 39
– H Govind** – 58 – – – – 58
– T Murray*** – 94 – – – – 94

total non-executive  
directors fees – 737 – – – – 737

total Group  
directors’  
fees paid 3 178 737 321 – 99 313 4 648

*  Fees paid to Kagiso Tiso Holdings (Pty) Ltd

**  Fees paid to NMT Group (Pty) Ltd

***  Fees paid to MMI Holdings Ltd
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27. financial instruments

27.1 credit risk

exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum financial exposure to credit risk. 

The maximum financial exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

carrying amount    
Trade and other receivables 14 232 11 907 4 130 16
Cash and cash equivalents 18 214 7 934 74 74
Withholding rebate receivable 3 558 2 921 – –

 36 004 22 762 4 204 90

The maximum exposure to credit  
risk of trade receivables at the  
reporting date by geographical  
region was:    
Carrying amount    
RSA 6 079 5 712 4 130 16
Other African countries 6 501 5 496 – –
Zimbabwe 1 652 699 – –

 14 232 11 907 4 130 16

impairment losses     

aging analysis of trade receivables    

The trade receivables aging at  
the year-end was:    

Carrying amount    
Neither past due nor impaired 6 635 10 583 4 130 –
Past due but not impaired    
Past due 0-30 days 4 303 1 302 – –
Past due 31-120 days 1 805 1 871 – –
More than 120 days 1 489 1 072 – 16

 14 232 14 828 4 130 16

The credit quality of trade and other receivables is assessed on an individual client level based on the nature 
of the clients the Group does business with.  It is reputable companies in the industry with a good business 
history.
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27. financial instruments (continued)

27.2 liquidity risk 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and 
excluding the impact of netting agreements:

   contractual 
 carrying  cash 6 6 – 12 1 – 5 
 amount flows  months months years 
 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000 r’000

non-derivative financial liabilities

Group 30 June 2015     
trade and other payables 3 352 3 352 3 352 – –

 3 352 3 352 3 352 – –

Group 30 June 2014     
Trade and other payables 2 658 2 658 2 658 – –

 2 658 2 658 2 658 – –

company 30 June 2015     
trade and other payables 21 785 21 785 912 20 873 –

 21 785 21 785 912 20 873 –

Company 30 June 2014     
Trade and other payables 23 301 23 301 – 23 301 –

 23 301 23 301 – 23 301 –

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at 
significantly different amounts.

27.3 interest rate risk 

profile

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s interest-bearing financial 
instruments was:

 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

Financial assets 18 214 7 934 74 74
Financial liabilities – – – –

 18 214 7 934 74 74

This represents cash balances held with financial institutions in current accounts. 

cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A 100 basis point increase or decrease in the interest rate received would result in an adjustment to the 
Group’s profit or loss and equity of R4 671 (2014: R1 403) before tax and R2 275 (2014: R0) before tax to the 
Company’s profit or loss and equity, respectively. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
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27. financial instruments (continued)

27.4 fair values

fair values versus carrying amounts

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Statement 
of Financial Position, are as follows:

 30 June 2015 30 June 2014
 carrying carrying
  amount  amount  
 r’000 r’000

Group  
Trade and other receivables 14 232 11 907
Withholding tax rebates receivable 3 558 2 921
Cash and cash equivalents 18 214 7 934
Trade and other payables (3 352) (8 616)

 32 652 12 178

company  
Trade and other receivables 4 130 16
Cash and cash equivalents 74 74
Trade and other payables (21 785) (23 303)

 (17 581) (23 213)

The carrying amounts of all financial assets and all financial liabilities approximate the fair values. 

28. share-based payments 

28.1 description of share-based payment arrangements 

At 30 June 2015 the Group has the following share based payment arrangements:

share option program (equity-settled)

On 3 July 2009 the Group established an employee share incentive scheme which is aimed at establishing 
an incentive to promote the continued growth of the Group by giving employees an opportunity to acquire 
shares.

On 1 November 2009 and 26 June 2010 the Group offered selected executive employees the opportunity 
to participate in an employee share incentive scheme. In accordance with this incentive scheme, options are 
exercisable at the market price of the shares at the date of grant. The options granted on 1 November 2009 
lapsed on 30 October 2014.

On 13 November 2013 the Group offered selected executive employees the opportunity to participate in an 
employee share incentive scheme. In accordance with this incentive scheme, options are exercisable at the 
market price of the shares at the date of grant.

On 17 February 2015 the Group offered selected executive employees the opportunity to participate in an 
employee share incentive scheme. In accordance with this incentive scheme, options are exercisable at the 
market price of the shares at the date of grant.

The options granted to a beneficiary in terms of the share incentive scheme shall lapse if the beneficiary’s 
employment with the Group terminates for whatever reason. 
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28. share-based payments (continued)

28.1 description of share-based payment arrangements (continued)

terms and conditions of share option program

The terms and conditions relating to the grants of the share option program are as follows; all options are to 
be settled by physical delivery of shares.

Grant date

number of 
instruments 
in thousands Vesting conditions

weighted 
average 
remaining 
contractual life

Options granted to 
management on  
26 June 2010

1 240 •			33.3%	after	36	months	of	service	 
after the grant date

•			33.3%	after	48	months	of	service	 
after the grant date

•			33.3%	after	60	months	of	service	 
after the grant date

Expired during 
the year

Options granted to 
management on  
13 November 2013

4 455 •			33.3%	after	36	months	of	service	 
after the grant date

•			33.3%	after	48	months	of	service	 
after the grant date

•			33.3%	after	60	months	of	service	 
after the grant date

3.5 years

Options granted to 
management on  
17 February 2015

2 345 •			33.3%	after	36	months	of	service	 
after the grant date

•			33.3%	after	48	months	of	service	 
after the grant date

•			33.3%	after	60	months	of	service	 
after the grant date

4.6 years
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28. share-based payments (continued)

28.1 description of share-based payment arrangements (continued)

disclosure of share option program 

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options is a follows:

 share option programme
 Group company
 2015 2014 2015 2014
 r’000 R’000 r’000 R’000

 number of  Number number Number 
 options  of options  of options of options

Outstanding at the beginning  
of the year 4 980 1 825 4 980 1 825
Issued during the year 2 345 4 455 2 345 4 455
Forfeited during the year (525) (1 300) (525) (1 300)
Outstanding at the end of the year 6 800 4 980 6 800 4 980

Exercisable at the end of the year – 453 – 453

The options granted on 26 June 2010 have an exercise price of R1.86, the options granted on  
13 November 2013 have an exercise price of 80.42 cents and the options granted on 17 February 2015 have 
an exercise price of R1.41. All of the options have a contractual life of 5 years.

In terms of the share ownership and share incentive scheme the maximum number of options to be granted 
may not exceed 3.4 million scheme shares and the maximum number of scheme shares to which any single 
eligible employee shall have rights to may not exceed 680 000 shares. 

inputs for measurement of grant date fair values 

The grant date fair value of the rights granted through the employee share purchase plan was measured 
based on the Black-Scholes formula. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price 
volatility of comparative entities due to the low trading volumes of SilverBridge shares. The inputs used in the 
measurement of the fair values at grant date of the share-based payment plans are the following:
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28. share-based payments (continued)

28.1 description of share-based payment arrangements (continued)

share options granted 26 June 2010
fair value of share options and assumptions
Fair value at grant date (weighted) 1.90
Share price at grant date (weighted) 1.90
Exercise price 1.86
Expected volatility 46.00%
Average volatility 46.00%
Option life (expected) 5 years
Expected dividends –
Risk free interest rate (based on government bonds) 8-9%

share options granted 1 november 2009
fair value of share options and assumptions
Fair value at grant date (weighted) 1.01
Share price at grant date (weighted) 1.69
Exercise price  1.56
Expected volatility 59.90%
Average volatility 59.90%
Option life (expected) 5 years
Expected dividends –
Risk free interest rate (based on government bonds) 8-9%

share options granted 13 november 2013
fair value of share options and assumptions
Fair value at grant date (weighted) 0.47
Share price at grant date (weighted) 0.79
Exercise price  0.80
Expected volatility 45.00%
Average volatility 45.00%
Option life (expected) 5 years
Expected dividends –
Risk free interest rate (based on government bonds) 7.47%

share options granted 17 february 2015
fair value of share options and assumptions
Fair value at grant date (weighted) 0.80
Share price at grant date (weighted) 1.50
Exercise price  1.41
Expected volatility 48.00%
Average volatility 48.00%
Option life (expected) 5.4 years
Expected dividends –
Risk free interest rate (based on government bonds) 7.03% - 7.11%
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28. share-based payments (continued)

28.2  directors interest in share options 

The following directors received share options as part of the above share options programme:

director 2014 year 2015 year total

J Swanepoel 1 360 000 – 1 360 000
L Kuyper 1 097 500 262 500 1 360 000
S Blyth – 1 000 000 1 000 000

None of the above share options were exercised at year end. 

29. subsequent events

No events occurred subsequent to the year end that would require the financial statements to be adjusted or 
disclosure thereof in the financial statements.
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If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take in respect of the following resolutions, please consult your 
Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”), broker, banker, attorney, accountant or other professional adviser 
immediately.

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of shareholders of the Company will be held on Tuesday, 
27 October 2015 at 11:00 at the SilverBridge Office Boardroom, 1st Floor, Castle View North, 495 Prieska Street, 
Erasmuskloof, Pretoria to deal with such business as may lawfully be dealt with at the meeting and to consider and, if 
deemed fit, pass, with or without modification, the ordinary and special resolutions set out hereunder in the manner 
required by the Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended (“the Companies Act”), the memorandum of 
incorporation (“MOI”) of the Company and the Listings Requirements of JSE Limited (“JSE Listings Requirements”).

The record date on which members must be recorded as such in the register maintained by the transfer secretaries 
of the Company for the purpose of being entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is Friday 
16 October 2015. Accordingly, the last day to trade SilverBridge shares in order to be recorded in the register to be 
entitled to vote will be Friday 9 October 2015.

Meeting participants (including shareholders and proxies) are required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification 
before being entitled to attend or participate in a shareholders’ meeting. Forms of identification include valid identity 
documents, driver’s licences and passports.

presentation of the annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015

The audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (as approved by the board of directors of the 
Company), incorporating the directors’ report, the auditor’s report and the Audit, Risk and IT Committee report for the 
year ended 30 June 2015, have been distributed and will be presented to shareholders. 

The complete annual financial statements are set out on pages 44 to 97 of the integrated annual report to which this 
notice is attached.

1. ordinary resolution number 1

confirmation of appointment of an executive director

“Resolved that shareholders confirm the appointment of Mr. Stuart Blyth as director of the Company, in terms of 
article 26 of the MOI of the Company.”

A brief biography in respect of Mr. Blyth is contained on page 11 of the integrated annual report to which this notice 
is attached.

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution. 

silVerBridGe holdinGs limited
 (Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number: 1995/006315/06)
ISIN Code:  ZAE000086229    Share Code: SVB 

(“SilverBridge” or “the Company”)
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2.  ordinary resolution number 2

re-election of directors who retire by rotation 

“Resolved that shareholders re-elect by way of series of votes, the following non- executive directors who, in terms 
of article 26 of the MOI of the Company and the provisions of the JSE Listings Requirements, retire by rotation at 
this annual general meeting but, being eligible to do so, have offered themselves for re-election:”

2.1 Jocobeth Chikaonda

2.2 Jeremy de Villiers

2.3 Tyrrel Murray

Brief biographies in respect of each director offering himself for re-election are contained on pages 10 to 11 
of the integrated annual report to which this notice is attached.

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the 
votes exercised on the resolution. 

3. ordinary resolution number 3

re-appointment of external auditor

“Resolved that shareholders authorise the Board to appoint PWC Incorporated, as the independent external auditors 
and Deon Storm as the individual registered auditor of the Company for the ensuing year and to determine the 
remuneration of the auditors.”

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution. 

4. ordinary resolution number 4

re-election of audit, risk and it committee members

“Resolved that shareholders re-elect, each by way of a separate vote, the following, non-executive directors, as 
members of the SilverBridge Audit, Risk and IT Committee, with effect from the end of this annual general meeting 
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company:”

4.1 Jeremy de Villiers (Chairman)

4.2 Robert Emslie

4.3 Tyrrel Murray

Brief biographies of these directors offering themselves for election as members of the SilverBridge Audit, Risk 
and IT Committee are enclosed in the report on pages 10 to 11 of the integrated annual report to which this 
notice is attached. 

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the 
votes exercised on the resolution. 
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5. ordinary resolution number 6

endorsement of silverBridge remuneration policy

“Resolved that shareholders endorse, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, the Company’s remuneration policy 
(excluding the remuneration of the non-executive directors and the members of Board committees for their services 
as directors and member of committee), as set out on pages 89 and 90 in the integrated annual report to which 
this notice is attached.”

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution. 

6. ordinary resolution number 5

General authority to directors to allot and issue authorised but unissued ordinary shares limited to  
12 000 000 shares

“Resolved that the authorised but unissued shares in the capital of the Company be and are hereby placed under 
the control and authority of the directors of the Company and that the directors of the Company be and are hereby 
authorised and empowered to allot and issue such ordinary shares, or to issue any options in respect of all or any 
of such ordinary shares, limited to an amount of 12 000 000 shares, to such person or persons on such terms and 
conditions and at such times as the directors of the Company may from time to time and in their discretion deem 
fit, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the MOI of the Company and the JSE Listings Requirements, 
as amended from time to time, when applicable, such authority to remain in force until the next annual general 
meeting.”

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution. 

7. ordinary resolution number 6

General authority to issue ordinary shares, and to sell treasury shares, for cash limited to 12 000 000 shares

“Resolved that subject to the general authority proposed in terms of ordinary resolution number 6 above and the 
JSE Listings Requirements, the directors of the Company be and are hereby granted a general authority to –

•	 allot and issue, or to issue any options in respect of, all or any of the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in 
the capital of the Company; and/or

•	 sell or otherwise dispose of or transfer, or issue any options in respect of, ordinary shares in the capital of the 
Company purchased by subsidiaries of the Company, 

for cash, to such person/s on such terms and conditions and at such times as the directors may from time to time 
in their discretion deem fit, subject to the Companies Act, the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company 
and its subsidiaries and the JSE Listings Requirements from time to time.” 

The JSE Listings Requirements currently provide, inter alia, that:

•	 this general authority will be valid until the earlier of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting or the expiry 
of a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date that this authority is given;

•	 the securities which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not 
the case, must be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;

•	 any such issue may only be made to “public shareholders” as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements and not to 
related parties;
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7. ordinary resolution number 6 (continued)

•	 the securities which are the subject of a general issue for cash may not exceed 50% (fifty percent) of the number 
of listed securities, excluding treasury shares, the 12 000 000 securities for which management is seeking general 
authority to issue and sell, is below the 50% threshold. Any securities issued under this authorisation during the 
period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date that this authorisation will be deducted from the aforementioned  
12 000 000 listed securities. In the event of a sub-division or a consolidation during the period contemplated 
above the authority will be adjusted to represent the same allocation ratio; 

•	 in determining the price at which securities may be issued in terms of this authority, the maximum discount 
permitted will be 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded price of such securities measured over the 
30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed in writing between the issuer and 
the party/ies subscribing for the securities;

•	 an announcement giving full details, including the number of securities issued, the average discount to the 
weighted average traded price of the securities over 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the issue is 
agreed in writing between the issuer and the parties subscribing for the securities and the impact on net asset 
value per share, net tangible asset value per share, earnings per share and headline earnings per share and, if 
applicable, diluted earnings and headline earnings per share, will be published when the Company has issued 
securities representing, on a cumulative basis within the earlier of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting or 
the expiry of a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date that this authority is given, 5% (five percent) or more 
of the number of securities in issue prior to the issue; and

•	 whenever the Company wishes to use repurchased shares, held as treasury stock by a subsidiary of the Company, 
such use must comply with the JSE Listings Requirements as if such use was a fresh issue of ordinary shares.

Under the JSE Listings Requirements, ordinary resolution number 7 must be passed by a 75% (seventy five percent) 
majority of the votes cast in favour of the resolution by all members present or represented by proxy at the Annual 
General Meeting.

8. ordinary resolution number 7

authority to sign all required documents

“Resolved that, subject to the passing of the ordinary and special resolutions at this annual general meeting, 
any director of the Company or the Company Secretary, be and is hereby individually authorised to sign all such 
documents and perform all acts which may be required to give effect to such ordinary and special resolutions.”

9. special resolution number 1

General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares

“Resolved that the Company, and/or any of its subsidiaries, be and are hereby authorised, by way of a general 
approval, to acquire any or all of the issued ordinary shares of the Company, upon such terms and conditions and 
in such amounts as the directors of the Company may from time to time determine, subject to the provisions of 
sections 46 and 48 of the Companies Act, the MOI of the Company and the JSE Listings Requirements, including, 
inter alia, that:”

•	 the	acquisition	of	ordinary	shares	must	be	effected	through	the	order	book	operated	by	the	JSE	trading	system	
and done without any prior understanding or arrangement between the Company and the counterparty;
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9. special resolution number 1 (continued)

•	 the repurchase is authorised in terms of the MOI of the Company;

•	 this	general	authority	shall	be	valid	until	the	earlier	of	the	Company’s	next	annual	general	meeting	or	the	variation	
or revocation of such general authority by special resolution at any subsequent general meeting of the Company, 
provided that it shall not extend beyond 15 months from the date of passing of this special resolution number 1;

•	 an	announcement	will	be	published	as	soon	as	the	Company	or	any	of	its	subsidiaries	have	acquired	ordinary	
shares constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% of the number of ordinary shares in issue prior to the acquisition 
and for each 3% in aggregate of the initial number acquired thereafter, in compliance with paragraph 11.27 of 
the JSE Listings Requirements;

•	 the	 acquisitions	 of	 ordinary	 shares,	 in	 the	 aggregate	 in	 any	 one	 financial	 year,	 may	 not	 exceed	 20%	 of	 the	
Company’s ordinary issued share capital as at the date of passing of this special resolution number 1;

•	 ordinary	shares	may	not	be	acquired	at	a	price	greater	than	10%	above	the	weighted	average	of	the	market	value	
of such ordinary shares for the 5 (five) business days immediately preceding the date on which the transaction 
is effected. The JSE should be consulted for a ruling if the Company’s securities have not traded in such five 
business day period;

•	 the	Company	may	only	effect	the	repurchase	once	the	Board	of	directors	authorises	the	acquisition,	the	Company	
passes the solvency and liquidity test and that from the time that the test is done, there have been no material 
changes to the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”);

•	 at	any	point	in	time,	the	Company	and/or	its	subsidiaries	may	only	appoint	one	agent	to	effect	any	acquisition(s)	
on its behalf; and

•	 the	Company	and/or	its	subsidiaries	may	not	acquire	any	ordinary	shares	during	a	prohibited	period,	as	defined	
in the JSE Listings Requirements, unless a repurchase programme is in place, where dates and quantities of shares 
to be traded during the prohibited period are fixed, which repurchase programme has been submitted to the JSE 
in writing and executed by an independent third party. 

Although no such repurchases are currently in contemplation, the directors of the Company undertake that at 
the time that the contemplated repurchase is to take place, the directors of the Company will ensure that, after 
considering the effect of the maximum repurchase and for a period of twelve months after the date of this notice 
of annual general meeting: 

•	 the	Company	and	the	Group	will,	in	the	ordinary	course	of	their	business,	be	able	to	pay	their	debts;

•	 the	consolidated	assets	of	the	Company	and	the	Group	will	exceed	the	consolidated	liabilities	of	the	Company	
and the Group respectively, such assets and liabilities being fairly valued, recognised and measured in accordance 
with the accounting policies used in the financial statements contained in the integrated annual report;

•	 the	issued	capital	and	reserves	of	the	Company	and	the	Group	will	be	adequate	for	the	purposes	of	the	Company	
and the Group’s business; and

•	 the	Company	and	the	Group’s	working	capital	will	be	sufficient	for	their	ordinary	business	purposes.

The JSE Listings Requirements require, in terms of section 11.26, the following disclosures, which are contained in 
the integrated annual report to which this notice forms part:

•	 Major	shareholders	–	refer	to	page	33	of	the	integrated	annual	report

•	 Share	capital	of	the	Company	–	refer	to	page	82	of	the	integrated	annual	report
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9. special resolution number 1 (continued)

directors’ responsibility statement

The directors, whose names appear on pages 10 and 11 of the integrated annual report to which this notice forms 
part, collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information pertaining to this 
special resolution and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have been 
omitted which would make any statements false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such 
facts have been made and that this special resolution, together with this notice, contains all information required 
by law and the JSE Listings Requirements in relation to this special resolution.

material changes

Other than the facts and developments reported on in the integrated annual report, there have been no material 
changes in the financial or trading position of the Company and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the 
audit report and up to the date of the notice of annual general meeting.

The directors have no specific intention, at present, for the Company or its subsidiaries to acquire any of the 
Company’s issued shares, but consider that such a general authority should be in place should an opportunity 
present itself, which is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.

The directors are of the opinion that it would be in the best interests of the Company to extend such general 
authority and thereby allow the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, to be in a position to acquire the shares issued 
by the Company, should the market conditions, tax dispensation and price justify such an acquisition.

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is at least 75% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution. 

reason and effect of special resolution number 1

The reason and effect for special resolution number 1 is to grant the Company general approval to acquire its own 
issued shares on such terms, conditions and such amounts determined from time to time by the directors of the 
Company, subject to the limitations set out above.

Pursuant to and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the directors of the Company hereby state:

•	 The	directors	of	the	Company	have	no	specific	intention	to	effect	the	provisions	of	special	resolution	number	1,	
but will, however, continually review this position having regard to prevailing circumstances;

•	 The	intention	of	the	Company	and/or	its	subsidiaries	is	to	consider	utilising	the	general	authority	to	repurchase	
if at some future date the cash resources of the Company are in excess of its requirements; and

•	 The	method	by	which	the	Company	and/or	any	of	its	subsidiaries	intends	to	repurchase	its	securities	and	the	
date on which such repurchase will take place, has not yet been determined.

It is the intention of the directors of the Company to use such authority should prevailing circumstances (including 
tax dispensations and market conditions) in their opinion warrant it.
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10. special resolution number 2: remuneration of non-executive directors

“Resolved that the Board and committee fees for non-executive directors for the financial year ending 30 June 
2016, as set out in the note below, be and are hereby authorised, in accordance with section 66(8) and (9) of the 
Companies Act and that the Company may continue to pay directors’ fees at the annual rates specified in the note 
below, for the period from 30 June 2015 until the Company’s 2015 annual general meeting.” 

remuneration: non-executive directors

period: 1 november 2014 to 30 June 2015

committee member
chairman of 

committee

Board 73 800 274 500

audit, risk & it 50 000 184 200

social, ethics & remuneration 24 800 24 800

investment 37 500 37 500

the fees will increase as follows from 1 november 2015:

committee member chairman of  
committee

Board 78 597 292 343

audit, risk & it 53 250 196 173

social, ethics & remuneration 26 412 26 412

investment 39 938 39 938

In exceptional circumstances where more work is done than expected, a fee per event/meeting of R7 500 to be 
paid to non-executive directors.

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is more than 75% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.  

reason and effect of special resolution number 2

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 2 is to approve the remuneration of the non-executive 
directors of the Company for their services as directors for the ensuing financial year.

11. special resolution number 3

financial assistance for the subscription and/or purchase of securities 

“Resolved that, as a special resolution in terms of section 44 of the Companies Act, the shareholders of the Company 
hereby authorise the Board of the Company to approve that the Company provides, at any time and from time to 
time during the period of two years commencing on the date of this special resolution number 3, any direct or 
indirect financial assistance by way of a loan, guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise, as contemplated 
in section 44 of the Companies Act, to any person for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription for 
and/or purchase of any option, or any securities, issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related 
company, provided that –
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11. special resolution number 3 (continued)

(a) the directors of the Company from time to time, determine: (i) the specific recipient, or general category of 
potential recipients of such financial assistance; (ii) the form, nature and extent of such financial assistance; and 
(iii) the terms and conditions under which such financial assistance is provided; and

(b) the directors of the Company may not authorise the Company to provide any financial assistance pursuant to 
this special resolution number 3 unless the Board meets all the requirements of section 44 of the Companies 
Act which it is required to meet in order to authorise the Company to provide such financial assistance.”

reason for and effect of special resolution number 3

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 3 is to grant the directors of the Company the authority to 
authorise the Company to provide financial assistance to any person for the purpose of, or in connection with, the 
subscription for, or purchase of, any option or securities issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-
related company. 

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is at least 75% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution. 

12. special resolution number 4

inter-company financial assistance 

“Resolved that, as a special resolution in terms of section 45 of the Companies Act, the shareholders of the Company 
hereby authorise the Board of the Company to approve that the Company provides, at any time and from time to 
time during the period of two years commencing on the date of this special resolution number 4, any direct or 
indirect financial assistance (which includes lending money, guaranteeing a loan or other obligation, and securing 
any debt or obligation) as contemplated in section 45 of the Companies Act to a related or inter-related company 
or corporation provided that –

(a) the directors of the Company, from time to time, determine: (i) the specific recipient or general category of 
potential recipients of such financial assistance; (ii) the form, nature and extent of such financial assistance; and 
(iii) the terms and conditions under which such financial assistance is provided; and

(b) the Board may not authorise the Company to provide any financial assistance pursuant to this special resolution 
number 4 unless the directors of the Company meet all the requirements of section 45 of the Companies Act 
which it is required to meet in order to authorise the Company to provide such financial assistance.”

reason for and effect of special resolution number 4

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 4 is to grant the directors of the Company the authority to 
authorise the Company to provide financial assistance, as contemplated in section 45 of the Companies Act, to a 
related or inter-related company or corporation. 

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this resolution to be adopted is at least 75% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution. 

Notice given to shareholders of the Company, in terms of section 45(5) of the Companies Act, of a resolution 
adopted by the Board authorising the Company to provide such direct or indirect financial assistance in respect of 
special resolution number 4:
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12. special resolution number 4 (continued)

(a) By the time that this notice of Annual General Meeting is delivered to shareholders of the Company, the 
Board will have adopted a resolution (“Section 45 Board Resolution”) authorising the Company to provide, 
at any time and from time to time during the period of two years commencing on the date on which special 
resolution number 4 is adopted, any direct or indirect financial assistance as contemplated in section 45 of the 
Companies Act (which includes lending money, guaranteeing a loan or other obligation, and securing any debt 
or obligation) to a related or inter-related company or corporation;

(b) the Section 45 Board Resolution will be effective only if and to the extent that special resolution number 4 
is adopted by the shareholders of the Company, and the provision of any such direct or indirect financial 
assistance by the Company, pursuant to such resolution, will always be subject to the Board being satisfied 
that (i) immediately after providing such financial assistance, the Company will satisfy the solvency and liquidity 
test as referred to in section 45(3)(b)(i) of the Companies Act, and (ii) the terms under which such financial 
assistance is to be given are fair and reasonable to the Company as referred to in section 45(3)(b)(ii) of the 
Companies Act; and

(c) in as much as the Section 45 Board Resolution contemplates that such financial assistance will in the aggregate 
exceed one-tenth of one percent of the Company’s net worth at the date of adoption of such resolution, the 
Company hereby provides notice of the Section 45 Board Resolution to shareholders of the Company. Such 
notice will also be provided to any trade union representing any employees of the Company. 

13. other business

to transact such other business as may be transacted at the annual general meeting of the company.

Voting instructions

In terms of the Companies Act, any member entitled to attend and vote at the above meeting may appoint one or 
more persons as proxy, to attend and speak and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. 
Forms of proxy must be deposited at the office of the transfer secretaries not later than 48 hours before the time 
fixed for the meeting (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays).

If your SilverBridge shares have been dematerialised and are held in a nominee account, then your Central Securities 
Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker, as the case may be, should contact you to ascertain how you wish to cast 
your vote at the annual general meeting and thereafter cast your vote in accordance with your instructions.

If you have not been contacted it would be advisable for you to contact your CSDP or broker, as the case may be, 
and furnish them with your instructions. If your CSDP or broker, as the case may be, does not obtain instructions 
from you, they will be obliged to act in terms of your mandate furnished to them, or if the mandate is silent in this 
regard to abstain from voting.

Dematerialised shareholders whose shares are held in a nominee account must not complete the attached form of 
proxy. Unless you advise your CSDP or broker timeously in terms of the agreement between yourself and your CSDP 
or broker by the cut-off time advised by them that you wish to attend the annual general meeting or send a proxy 
to represent you at the annual general meeting, your CSDP or broker will assume you do not wish to attend the 
annual general meeting or send a proxy. If you wish to attend the annual general meeting, your CSDP or broker will 
issue the necessary letter of representation to you to attend the annual general meeting.

Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker, other than “own name” registered 
dematerialised shareholders, who wish to attend the annual general meeting, must request their CSDP or broker to 
issue them with a letter of representation, or they must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in 
terms of the relevant custody agreement/mandate entered into between them and the CSDP or broker.

notice of annual General meetinG

106



13. other business (continued)

shareholder rights

It is requested that forms of proxy should be forwarded to reach the company’s transfer secretaries at the address 
given below by no later than Friday, 23 October 2015 at 11:00.

In terms of section 63 (2) and 63 (3) of the Companies Act, shareholders or their proxies may participate in the 
meeting by way of telephone conference call and, if they wish to do so:

•	 Must	contact	the	Company	Secretary	(by	email	at	the	address	melinda@fusioncorp.co.za)	by	no	later	than	Friday,	
23 October 2015 at 11:00 in order to obtain a pin number and dial-in details for that conference call

•	 Will	be	required	to	provide	reasonably	satisfactory	identification

•	 Will	be	billed	separately	by	their	own	telephone	service	providers	for	their	telephone	call	to	participate	in	the	
meeting

By order of the Board

M. Gous
Company Secretary

16 September 2015
Pretoria
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1. presentation of annual financial statements

The ordinary business to be considered at the annual general meeting of the Company is more fully governed in 
terms of the MOI of the Company. In short, the ordinary business at an annual general meeting is to present the 
annual financial statements of the Company (as approved by the Board of Directors of the Company), to declare or 
sanction dividends (where applicable), to elect directors, auditors and other officers in the place of those retiring by 
rotation or otherwise and to elect the Audit Committee. No special business shall be transacted at an annual general 
meeting unless due notice thereof has been given. 

2. confirmation of appointment of director

In accordance with section 26 of the Company’s MOI, the directors shall have power at any time and from time to 
time to appoint any person as a director, either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board, but so that 
the total number of the directors shall not at any time exceed the maximum number. Any person appointed to fill a 
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board, shall retain office only until the next following annual general meeting 
of the company and shall then retire and be eligible for re-election. The Board recommend that shareholders confirm 
the appointment of Stuart Blyth in accordance with the MOI and section 68(2) of the Companies Act.

3. re-election and rotation of directors

The rotation of directors is governed in terms of the MOI of the Company, which require one third of the directors 
to retire from office at the annual general meeting. The retiring directors at each annual general meeting shall be 
those who have been longest in office since their last election or appointment. If at the date of the annual general 
meeting any director will have held office for a period of three years since his last election or appointment he shall 
retire at such meeting either as one of the directors to retire in pursuance of the foregoing or additionally thereto. 
A retiring director shall act as a director throughout the meeting at which he retires. The retiring directors shall be 
eligible for re-election. Jeremy de Villers, Jocobeth Chikaonda and Tyrrel Murray offer themselves for re-election. 

4. appointment of external auditor

The Audit, Risk and IT Committee considered and assessed the independence of the external auditor, KPMG 
Incorporated, KPMG Forum, 1226 Schoeman Street, Hatfield, Pretoria, 0028 in accordance with section 90 of 
the Companies Act. The Audit, Risk and IT Committee was satisfied with KPMG Incorporated’s independence. 
Furthermore, the SilverBridge Audit, Risk and IT Committee has, in terms of paragraph 3.86 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements, considered and satisfied itself that Willem Pretorius the reporting accountant and individual auditor, 
is accredited to appear on the JSE List of Accredited Auditors, in compliance with section 22 of the JSE Listings 
Requirements. 

The Audit and Risk Committee nominated the appointment of PWC Incorporated as registered auditor for the 
2015/2016 financial year, with Deon Storm as the individual designated auditor of the Company for the ensuing 
year. The Board has accepted the recommendation of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee subject to shareholder 
approval as required in terms of section 90(1) of the Companies Act. 

The auditors will remain the appointed auditors until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the 
Company. The remuneration of the auditors shall be fixed by agreement with the Company.

explanatory notes to the aGm

108



5. re-election of audit, risk and it committee members

In terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, the Company must elect an Audit Committee comprising at least 
three members. The company combined the function of the Audit, risk and IT. The Audit, Risk and IT Committee is no 
longer a committee of the Board, but a committee elected by the shareholders at each annual general meeting. The 
proposed members of the Audit, Risk and IT Committee have experience in audit, accounting, economics, human 
resources, commerce and general industry, among others.

The Board confirm that J. de Villiers and R. Emslie are independent non-executive directors. T Murray represents a 
large shareholder but applies his mind independently to matters of the company. Each member of the Audit and 
Risk Committee of the company is a suitably qualified and skilled director of the company. The members of the 
committee are not involved in the day-to-day management of the business or have not been so involved at any time 
of the previous financial year. None of the members are a prescribed officer or full-time employee of the company or 
another related or inter-related company, or have been such an officer or employee at any time during the previous 
three financial years. None of the members were a material supplier or customer of the company.

6. endorsement of silverBridge remuneration policy

The endorsement of SilverBridge’s remuneration policy is of an advisory nature only and failure to pass this resolution 
will therefore not have any legal consequences relating to existing arrangements. However, the Board will take the 
outcome of the vote into consideration when considering the Company’s remuneration policy in the remuneration 
of executive directors.

7. General authority to directors to allot and issue authorised but unissued ordinary shares limited to  
12 000 000 shares

In terms of the company’s MOI, the Board might with the prior approval of the company in general meeting, subject 
to the Statutes and the approval of the Issuer Regulation Division of the JSE (where necessary) issue authorised but 
unissued shares in the company to such person or person on such terms and conditions and with such rights or 
restrictions attached thereto as the directors may determine, limited to 12 000 000 shares.

The existing general authorities granted by the shareholders at the previous annual general meeting, held 
16 October 2014, will expire at the annual general meeting to be held on Tuesday, 27 October 2015 at 11:00, unless 
renewed. The authorities will be subject to the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements. The aggregate 
number of ordinary shares able to be allotted and issued in terms of these authorities are limited as set out in the 
respective resolutions.

The directors request shareholder approval for the renewal of these authorities as it would be advantageous for the 
business to make use of the authority if opportunities arise. 

8. General authorisation to issue shares for cash

This enables the directors to issue shares for cash limited to 12 000 000 shares.

9. authority to sign all required documents

This requests authority to be given to a director or the Company Secretary to sign such documents and execute such 
actions as will be required to register and give effect to the resolutions passed.
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10. General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares

This is to grant the company and its subsidiaries a general authority to facilitate the acquisition by the company and/
or its subsidiaries of the company’s own shares, which general authority shall be valid until the earlier of the next 
annual general meeting of the company, provided that this general authority shall not extend beyond 15 months 
from the date of the passing of this special resolution number 1. 

11. remuneration of non-executive directors

In terms of section 66(8) – (9) of the Companies Act, remuneration may only be paid to directors, for their service as 
directors, in accordance with a special resolution approved by the shareholders within the previous two years and if 
not prohibited in terms of a company’s MOI.

12. financial assistance for the subscription and/or purchase of securities 

This general authority would greatly assist the Company inter alia with making inter-company loans to subsidiaries 
as well as granting letters of support and guarantees in appropriate circumstances. The existence of a general 
shareholder authority would avoid the need to refer each instance to members for approval which might impede 
the negotiations and add time and expense. If approved, this general authority will expire at the end of two years.

The Board must when considering such assistance either for the specific recipient, or generally for a category 
ensures that:

- The company will satisfy the solvency and liquidity test immediately after providing the financial assistance; and

- The terms under which the financial assistance is proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to the company.
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form of proxy for the annual General meetinG to Be held on tuesday, 27 octoBer 2015 at 11:00, at the silVerBridGe offices,  
1st floor, castle View north, 495 priesKa street, erasmusKloof, pretoria

For use only by ordinary shareholders who:

•	 hold	ordinary	shares	in	certificated	form	(“certificated	ordinary	shareholders”);	or

•	 have	dematerialised	their	ordinary	shares	(“dematerialised	ordinary	shareholders”)	and	are	registered	with	“own	name”	registration,

Holders of dematerialised ordinary shares other than “own name” registration who wish to attend the annual general meeting must inform their CSDP or 
broker of their intention to attend the annual general meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary authorisation to attend 
the annual general meeting in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend the annual general meeting in person or by proxy, they must 
provide their CSDP of broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker. 
These ordinary shareholders must not use this form of proxy.

Name of beneficial shareholder

Name of registered shareholder

Address 

Telephone work (    ) Telephone home (    ) Cell (    )

being the registered holder(s)/custodian of  ordinary shares in the capital of the Company do hereby appoint (see note):

1. or failing him/her,

2. or failing him/her,

3.  the chairperson of the annual general meeting 

as my/our proxy to attend and act on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the Company which will be held on Tuesday, 27 October 2015 
at 11:00, for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the resolutions to be proposed thereat and at any 
postponement or adjournment thereof, and to vote for and/or against the resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of the ordinary shares 
registered in my/our name/s, in accordance with the following instructions:

number of ordinary shares

for against abstain

1. Ordinary resolution number 1: Confirmation of appointment of and Executive Director

 1.1 Stuart Blyth   

2. Ordinary resolution number 2: Re-election of directors who retires by rotation:   

 2.1 Jocobeth Chikaonda   

 2.2 Jeremy De Villiers

 2.3 Tyrrel Murray 

3. Ordinary resolution number 3: Appointment of external auditor   

4. Ordinary resolution number 4: Re-Election of Audit, Risk and IT Committee   

 4.1 Jeremy De Villiers (Chairman)   

 4.2 Robert Emslie

 4.3 Tyrrel Murray   

5. Ordinary resolution number 5: Endorsement of SilverBridge remuneration policy

6. Ordinary resolution number 6: General authority to directors to allot and issue authorised but 
unissued ordinary shares limited to 12 000 000 shares

7. Ordinary resolution number 7: General authority to issue ordinary shares, or sell treasury shares, for 
cash limited to 12 000 000 shares

  

8. Ordinary resolution number 8: Authority to sign documents 

9. Special resolution number 1: General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares   

10. Special resolution number 2: Remuneration of non-executive directors   

11. Special resolution number 3: Financial assistance for the subscription and/ or purchase of securities   

12. Special resolution number 4: Inter-company financial assistance 

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces provided above how you wish your vote to be cast. If no indication is given, the proxy will be entitled 
to vote or abstain as he/she deems fit.

Signed at on 2015.

Signature

Assisted by (where applicable)

silVerBridGe holdinGs limited
 (Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number: 1995/006315/06)
ISIN Code:  ZAE000086229    Share Code: SVB 

(“SilverBridge” or “the Company”)
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SUMMARY OF RIGHTS CONTAINED IN SECTION 58 OF THE COMPANIES ACT

In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act:

•	 a	 shareholder	 of	 a	 company	 may,	 at	 any	 time	 and	 in	 accordance	
with the provisions of section 58 of the Companies Act, appoint 
any individual (including an individual who is not a shareholder) 
as a proxy to participate in, and speak and vote at, a shareholders’ 
meeting on behalf of such shareholder

•	 a	 proxy	 may	 delegate	 her	 or	 his	 authority	 to	 act	 on	 behalf	 of	 a	
shareholder to another person, subject to any restriction set out in 
the instrument appointing such proxy

•	 irrespective	of	the	form	of	instrument	used	to	appoint	a	proxy,	the	
appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent 
that the relevant shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in 
the exercise of any of such shareholder’s rights as a shareholder

•	 any	appointment	by	a	shareholder	of	a	proxy	is	revocable,	unless	the	
form of instrument used to appoint such proxy states otherwise

•	 if	an	appointment	of	a	proxy	is	revocable,	a	shareholder	may	revoke	
the proxy appointment by: (i) cancelling it in writing, or making a 
later inconsistent appointment of a proxy and (ii) delivering a copy of 
the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the relevant company

•		 a	 proxy	 appointed	 by	 a	 shareholder	 is	 entitled	 to	 exercise,	 or	
abstain from exercising, any voting right of such shareholder 
without direction, except to the extent that the relevant company’s 
memorandum of incorporation, or the instrument appointing the 
proxy, provides otherwise

•	 if	the	instrument	appointing	a	proxy	or	proxies	has	been	delivered	by	
a shareholder to a company, then, for so long as that appointment 
remains in effect, any notice that is required in terms of the 
Companies Act or such company’s memorandum of incorporation to 
be delivered to a shareholder must be delivered by such company to:

•	 the	relevant	shareholder;	or

•	 the	proxy	or	proxies,	if	the	relevant	shareholder	has:	(i)	directed	such	
company to do so, in writing and (ii) paid any reasonable fee charged 
by such company for doing so.

notes to form of proxy

1. The form of proxy must only be completed by shareholders who hold 
shares in certificated form or who are recorded on the sub-register in 
electronic form in “own name”.

2. All other beneficial owners who have dematerialised their shares 
through a CSDP or broker and wish to attend the Annual General 
Meeting must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting 
instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into 
between them and the CSDP or broker.

3. An ordinary shareholder holding dematerialised shares by “own 
name” registration, or who holds shares that are not dematerialised, 
may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative 
proxies of the ordinary shareholder’s choice in the space provided, 
with or without deleting “the chairman of the annual general 
meeting”. The person whose name stands first on the proxy form and 
who is present at the annual general meeting will be entitled to act as 
proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. Should a proxy 
not be specified, this will be exercised by the chairman of the annual 
general meeting. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

4. An ordinary shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands 
and, on a poll, to that proportion of the total votes in the Company 
which the aggregate amount of the nominal value of the shares held 
by him/her bears to the aggregate amount of the nominal value 
of all the shares issued by the Company. An ordinary shareholder’s 
instructions to the proxy must be indicated by inserting the relevant 
number of votes exercisable by the ordinary shareholder in the 
appropriate box(es). An “X” in the appropriate box indicates the 
maximum number of votes exercisable by that shareholder. Failure 
to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the proxy to 
vote or to abstain from voting at the annual general meeting as he/

she deems fit in respect of the entire shareholder’s votes exercisable 
thereat. An ordinary shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to 
use all the votes exercisable by the ordinary shareholder, or to cast all 
those votes exercised in the same way, but the total of the votes cast 
and in respect whereof abstention is recorder may not exceed the 
total of the votes exercisable by the ordinary shareholder.

5. A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid in 
relation to the Annual General Meeting notwithstanding the death, 
insanity or other legal disability of the person granting it, or the 
revocation of the proxy, or the transfer of the ordinary shares in 
respect of which the proxy is given, unless notice as to any of the 
aforementioned matters shall have been received by the transfer 
secretaries not less than forty eight hours before the commencement 
of the Annual General Meeting.

6. If any ordinary shareholder does not indicate on this instrument that 
his/her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to 
abstain from voting, or give contradictory instructions, or should any 
further resolution(s) or any amendment(s) which may be properly put 
before the annual general meeting be proposed, the proxy shall be 
entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit.

7. The completion and lodging of this proxy form will not preclude the 
relevant shareholder from attending the annual general meeting and 
speaking and voting in person thereat instead of any proxy appointed 
in terms thereof.

8. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing 
the proxy form in a representative capacity must be attached to this 
form, unless previously recorded by the Company or waved by the 
chairman of the annual general meeting.

9. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing 
the form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to 
this form of proxy, unless previously recorded by the Company’s 
transfer secretaries or waived by the Chairperson of the Annual 
General Meeting.

10. A minor or any other person under legal incapacity must be assisted 
by his/her parent or guardian, as applicable, unless the relevant 
documents establishing his/her capacity are produced or have been 
registered by the transfer secretaries of the Company.

11. Where there are joint holders of ordinary shares:

•	 any	one	holder	may	sign	the	form	of	proxy

•	 the	vote(s)	of	the	senior	ordinary	shareholders	(for	that	purpose	
seniority will be determined by the order in which the names 
of ordinary shareholders appear in the Company’s register of 
ordinary shareholders) who tenders a vote (whether in person 
or by proxy) will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of 
the other joint shareholder(s)

12. The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject or accept 
any proxy form which is completed and/or received other than in 
compliance with these notes.

13. A proxy may not delegate his/her authority to act on behalf of the 
shareholder, to another person.

14. It is requested that this proxy form should be completed and returned 
to the Company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor 
Services (Proprietary) Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 
2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2017), so as to reach them by no 
later than Friday, 23 October 2015 at 11:00.

15. Should a shareholder lodge the proxy form with the transfer 
secretaries less than 48 hours before the annual general meeting, 
such shareholder will also be required to furnish a copy of such proxy 
form to the chairman of the annual general meeting before the 
appointed proxy exercises any such shareholder’s rights at the annual 
general meeting.

ADDITIONAL FORMS OF PROXY ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE TRANSFER 
SECRETARIES ON REQUEST.
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inVestor fact sheet  
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Insurance administration solutions for Africa

SilverBridge offers clients in the insurance industry reliable solutions 
that aim to simplify their operations by enabling and improving their 
business processes. We achieve this by implementing our system 
platforms and customising them to meet client needs. After being 
implemented, our software is rented to our customers on a usage 
basis. The valuable experience we have gained through our existing 
African footprint and strategic partnerships positions us well to take 
advantage of opportunities while making life insurance simpler and 
more accessible.

Exergy is our flagship platform that enables core back office policy 
administration in the life assurance industry. The broader Exergy 
solution package has specific applications which can be customised to 
suit the needs of a long-term insurer. We aim to enable our clients to 
drive their strategic business objectives more efficiently. Our approach is 
to identify and define strategic customer business objectives, translate 
them into IT requirements and implement sustainable solutions.

market stats

•	 JSE	Code:	SVB

•	 Shares	in	issue:	34.7	million

•	 Share	price:	199	cents*

•	 Market	cap:	R	69.1m

•	 P/E:	8.3	times

•	 DY	(Gross):	2.5%

* as at 16 September  2015

latest result comment 

•	 Despite	slight	revenue	decrease,	net	
profit grew 41% to R8.3 million

•	 Total	costs	declined	by	8%

•	 Cash	balance	improved	to	R18.2	
million

•	 We	continue	to	close	new	deals	in	
Africa

major shareholders

•	 33%	-	Kagiso	Tiso	Holdings	Pty	Ltd	
and MMI Holdings Ltd held through 
Cshell 448 Pty Ltd

•	 7%	-	NMT	Group*

•	 23%	-	Directors

•	 37%	-	Public
* Previously Amabubesi Capital Information Services

(to June - r ‘000) 2012 2013 2014 2015

Revenue 82 576 82 247 83 844 80 943
   growth (y-o-y) * 0% 2% -3%

EBIT -4 103 3 215 8 295 11 012
   EBIT margin -5% 4% 10% 14%

PAT -6 603 2 322 5 919 8 343
   growth (y-o-y) * -135% 155% 41%

HEPS (cents) -16.9 7.6 17.0 24.1
   growth (y-o-y) * -145% 124% 42%

DPS (Gross - cents)    5.0

Cash flow from operations -8 632 -94 6 742 11 923

Cash balance 4 521 3 203 7 934 18 214

Debt/(Debt+Equity) 0% 0% 0% 0%
% Annuity Revenue 65% 70% 74% 73%
ROE -31% 10% 19% 21%
Employees 99 85 81 78

as a percentage of sales    

Segment profit 19% 22% 22% 25%
Research & Development -20% -15% -12% -11%
Unallocated costs -4% -3% 0% 0%

* Growth not indicated owing to previous 16 month period

share price performance

revenue and eBit margin



connect implementation services
The implementation of insurance industry software. 
Project based. People intensive.

(to Jun - r ‘000) 2012 2013 2014 2015

Revenue 29 171 22 524 20 683 19 678

   growth (y-o-y) * ** -8% -5%
Segment result -14 736 -9 556 -2 415 882
   Profit margin -51% -42% -12% 4%

*  Growth not indicated owing to previous 16 month period.
** Growth not indicated owing to restatement of segment information in 

2013.

•	 Our	large	implementation	project	came	to	an	end,	but	
still weighed on the segment

•	 Margin	improved	from	smaller	projects	with	healthier	
margins

•	 Focus	is	now	on	smaller	higher	margin	projects

connect support services
Ongoing support of the installed software across the  
client base.

(to Jun - r ‘000) 2012 2013 2014 2015

Revenue 20 081 25 530 24 707 26 017

   growth (y-o-y) *  ** -3% -5%

Segment result -868 2 303 -383 241

   Profit margin -4% 9% -2% 1%

* Growth not indicated owing to previous 16 month period.
** Growth not indicated owing to restatement of segment information in 

2013.

•	 Revenue	 increased	 by	 5%	 from	 new	 contracts	 and	
more work from existing clients

•	 A	small	profit	was	achieved

Bee
•	 33%	Kagiso	Trust
•	 Level	four	contributor
•	 Group	is	committed	to	BEE	and	transformation	

customers across africa
•	 Several	 well-known	 Life	 insurance	 companies	

(including Nedgroup Life, Metropolitan International, 
ABSA Life, African Bank and Regent)

•	 SilverBridge	 has	 more	 than	 30	 clients	 in	 12	 African	
countries

silverBridge holdings limited
Headquarters:
1st Floor, Castle View North,
495 Prieska Str, Erasmuskloof, Pretoria, 0048
auditors:
KPMG Inc.

silverBridge support services
Provides expert level software support and training services 
to clients and implementation partners.

(to Jun - r ‘000) 2012 2013 2014 2015

Revenue * * 1 317 1 805
   growth (y-o-y) * * * 37%
Segment result * * -1 074 -1 305
   Profit margin * * -82% -72%

* New segment, no comparative figures.

•	 Relatively	new	segment	created	from	the	separation	of	
SilverBridge’s software activities (SilverBridge) from its 
implementation and support activities (Connect) 

•	 Although	we	anticipate	it	to	remain	small,	we	envisage	
it becoming profitable as it achieves more scale

silverBridge software rental
Rental of software to clients. Annuity income model on 
usage basis. Driven by number of policies administered.

(to Jun - r ‘000) 2012 2013 2014 2015

Revenue 33 324 34 193 37 137 33 443

   growth (y-o-y) * 3% 9% -10%

Segment result 31 256 25 081 22 198 20 134

   Profit margin 94% 73% 60% 60%

R&D expensed 16 852 12 183 10 031 8 940

R&D capitalised - 756 1 002 1 167

* Growth not indicated owing to previous 16 month period.

•	 Revenue	declined	by	10%	from	loss	of	client	running	
legacy SDT Life system

•	 Rest	of	rental	base	grew	by	9%
•	 Our	annuity	rental	stream	remains	a	core	focus

seGmental performance

executive directors:

Jaco swanepoel lee Kuyper  stuart Blyth
 CEO Financial Director Executive Director

South Africa
Lesotho

Swaziland

Zimbabwe
Mauritius 

Malawi

Kenya

Namibia

Angola

Botswana

Nigeria

Ghana

silverBridge investor contact

Lee Kuyper
Financial Director
lee.kuyper@silverbridge.co.za
www.silverbridge.co.za
+27 (0)12 360 0100



The Directors

SilverBridge Holdings Limited

I/We, (PLEASE PRINT)  the undersigned

of address 

being the registered holder(s) of:  ordinary shares in the capital of the Company and/or

do hereby elect to receive any documents or notices from SilverBridge, by electronic post, to the extent that the Company is permitted to so distribute 
any notices, documents, records or statements in terms of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended, and any and every other statute, ordinance, 
regulation or rule in force from time to time, including the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited, concerning companies and affecting SilverBridge.

I/We hereby furnish the following email address and/or fax number for such electronic communication:

Email address

Fax number

Any written amendment or withdrawal of any such notice of consent by me/us, shall only take effect if signed by me/us and received by the Company.

Signed at on 2015.

Signature 

Assisted by me (where applicable)

Please complete, detach and return this election form to the Company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited,  
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2017), by no later than Friday, 23 October 2015 at 11:00.

election form

silVerBridGe holdinGs limited
 (Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number: 1995/006315/06)
ISIN Code:  ZAE000086229    Share Code: SVB 

(“SilverBridge” or “the Company”)
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corporate information

registered offices

First Floor, Castle View North
495 Prieska Street Erasmuskloof, Pretoria, 0048
(PO Box 11799, Erasmuskloof, 0048)

company secretary

Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services Proprietary 
Limited represented by Melinda Gous
Unit 2 Corporate Corner
Marco Polo Street
Highveld, Centurion, Gauteng

transfer secretaries

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
(Registration number: 2004/003647/07)
70 Marshall Street Johannesburg, 2001
(Call centre: 0861 100 634)
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)

designated adviser

PSG Capital Proprietary Limited
(Registration number: 2006/015817/07)
1st Floor Building eight
Inanda Greens Business Park
54 Wierda Road West  
Wierda Valley, Sandton, 2196
(PO Box 650957, Benmore, 2001)

silverBridge software solutions proprietary limited

(Registration number 1995/005860/07)
Date of incorporation: 26 June 1995
Place of incorporation: Pretoria, South Africa

ones `n Zeros professional services (sa) proprietary 
limited

(Registration number 2001/023270/07)
Date of incorporation: 28 September 2001
Place of incorporation: Pretoria, South Africa

connect software services proprietary limited

(Registration number 2010/008772/07)
Date of incorporation: 5 May 2010
Place of incorporation: Pretoria, South Africa

directors of silverBridge holdings proprietary 
limited

Robert Emslie   Independent non-executive 
  director

Jaco Swanepoel  Chief Executive Officer

Lee Kuyper  Financial director

Stuart Blyth  Executive director

Jeremy de Villiers  Independent non-executive 
  director

Jocobeth Chikaonda  Non-executive director

Hasheel Govind  Non-executive director

Tyrrel Murray  Non-executive director

auditors

KPMG Incorporated
(Registration number: 1999/021543/21)
KPMG Forum, 1226 Francis Baard Street 
Hatfield, 0083
(PO Box 11265, Hatfield, 0028)

legal advisers

Gildenhuys Malatji Inc.
(Registration number: 1997/002114/21)
GMI House, Harlequins Office Park
164 Totius Street, Groenkloof, 0027
(PO Box 619, Pretoria, 0001)

authorised dealer and commercial banker

ABSA Bank Limited
(Registration number: 1986/004794/06)
ABSA Towers East, 170 Main Street 
Johannesburg, 2001
(PO Box 7735, Johannesburg, 2000)

silverBridge holdings limited

(Registration number 1995/006315/06)
Date of incorporation: 5 July 1995
Place of incorporation: Pretoria, South Africa

we would like to thank petro mostert, darius nel, freya nell, lee Kuyper, stuart Blyth, Jaco swanepoel, 
debra skinner and mariëtte Barnes for their contribution to make the integrated report 2015 possible.



www.silverbridge.co.za

First Floor, Castle View 
North, 495 Prieska Street, 

Erasmuskloof, Pretoria, 0048
(P.O. Box 11799, Erasmuskloof,  

Pretoria, 0048)
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